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Candover Investments plc is a private equity 
investment trust listed on the London Stock 
Exchange. Candover does not make new 
investments; our focus is on realising value  
from our legacy private equity assets. 

Our portfolio currently comprises investments  
in three privately owned European businesses, 
acquired by investing alongside funds managed 
by Arle Capital LLP (‘Arle’), an independent 
private equity partnership. Arle was established 
via the sale of Candover Partners Limited (‘CPL’) 
to its investment team. Arle is the Manager of the 
Candover 2005 and 2008 Funds.

Our sole objective is to optimise the 
long-term value of the portfolio for 
our shareholders.

How will this be achieved?
Via a progressive return of cash as portfolio 
businesses are sold.

When will cash be returned?
When sufficient cash has been realised from the 
portfolio and may be distributed in accordance 
with the terms of our financing facilities. The 
mechanisms to return cash will, where possible, 
take into account tax efficiency for shareholders 
and the cost of implementation.

Assuming Arle’s realisation estimates are 
achieved, we currently believe that the return  
of cash could be substantially completed over 
the next year.

Key metrics (at 31st December)

Net assets

£35.6m
-33%
2015: £53.2m

Net assets per share 

163p
-33%
2015: 243p

Net debt 

£13.7m 
-£19.5m
2015: £33.2m
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The first half of 2016 was a period of greater 
realisation activity, albeit in volatile markets,  
that generated significant cash inflows for the 
Company totalling approximately £30 million. 
Following this, the Board concluded in June  
that an early partial repayment of the Company’s 
debt was in shareholders’ interest given the 
structure and cost of the debt facility.

Over the year, the valuation of our retained 
investment portfolio reduced by 4.7% which, 
together with the loss on asset disposals and 
financing costs, led to a 33% reduction in NAV 
per share to 163p. The loss on asset disposals 
reflected the impact of the partial realisation by 
Arle, our third party investment manager, of 
Parques Reunidos (‘Parques’) and Technogym 
S.p.A. (‘Technogym’), by way of Initial Public 
Offerings (‘IPO’) in late April, which both occurred 
below their 31st December 2015 valuations. 

Candover’s remaining indirect interests  
in both Parques and Technogym were subject  
to lock up periods which expired in late  
October and early November 2016 respectively. 
Both companies had differing fortunes following  
their IPOs; through to the year end the share 
price of Parques declined by 1.5% from the  
IPO price, whilst the share price of Technogym 
increased by 36.4%. Following the end of the 
year, Arle then completed both the realisation  
of the remaining shares in Technogym and  
a further block of Parques shares was sold, 
leaving Candover’s indirect interest at 
approximately 2.5%. 

The profile of Candover following these post  
year end realisations is quite different to that  
at the start of 2016. The portfolio is no longer  
a private equity portfolio with over 90% of the 
portfolio value, after adjusting for the post year 
end disposals, being listed shares in Parques.  
In addition, the realisation proceeds received 
post year end means that Candover now has  
net cash, rather than net debt, for the first time 
since 2007.

Furthermore, the impending termination  
of the Candover Funds, and ensuing voluntary 
liquidation of Arle at the end of the first quarter  
of 2017, will result in Candover being able to 
self-manage the final run-off of its portfolio.  
In particular, it is anticipated that when the 
Candover 2005 Fund terminates, our indirect 
interest in Parques will be exchanged for a direct 
interest in its listed shares.

The Board has, over the course of the second 
half of 2016, been giving thought to the options 
that the Company faces after the end of the first 
quarter. In particular, the timing of the disposal  
of the Parques investment, the pay down  
of our current debt facilities and the potential 
distribution of value to shareholders are key 
matters under consideration along with the cost 
of managing through this phase of the run-off 
process. In addition, Candover has accumulated 
substantial income tax losses and we are 
exploring whether this, in any way, constitutes  
a future realisable asset. 

At the end of the first quarter, after discussion 
with our debt provider, we repaid our debt facility 
in full on favourable terms.

The Board is not recommending a dividend 
payment.

The Board continues to be committed to the 
highest standards of corporate governance. 
However, given the significant change in our 
overall position, we have concluded that a Board 
of two members, rather than four, is sufficient to 
complete this phase of the run-off. Whilst it is our 
intention to adhere to as much of the governance 
requirements as is practical, we will simplify our 
approach wherever possible to reduce costs.

It is, therefore, the current intention that  
both Jan Oosterveld and I will not be seeking 
re-election at this year’s AGM.

Richard Stone
Chairman 
4th April 2017
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When Candover announced in late 2010 that 
it would no longer make new investments but 
instead go into run-off, we set our strategy to 
achieve a return of cash to shareholders over 
time. To support the delivery of this strategy, our 
focus has been twofold: first, to ensure that the 
Company remained financially stable; and second, 
to actively review and monitor the performance 
of Arle, our investment manager, as it set out to 
maximise and realise the value of the portfolio.

Our operating model was simplified and had 
two components to NAV progression. These are 
the value of the portfolio assets and any changes 
therein; and the costs incurred in running the 
business which are principally the fees we pay 
to Arle; and the interest costs associated with 
our debt financing. The impact of these costs 
on NAV will either be offset by increases in the 
valuation of the portfolio during any financial 
period or will exacerbate the impact of any 
reductions in portfolio value. NAV growth, 
therefore, is solely dependent on increases in 
the valuation of the portfolio managed by Arle 
exceeding our costs.

Net asset value
The Company’s net assets per share of 163p at 
31st December 2016 decreased 33% over the 
prior year (243p) reflecting the impact of the partial 
realisation of Parques and Technogym occurring 
below their valuations at the start of the year 
together with the impact of debt financing costs. 

During the first half of the year, NAV declined  
95p per share split between losses on financial 
instruments in the portfolio (86p), overall 
favourable currency movements (16p), the impact 
of financing costs (20p) and operating costs  
(5p). During the second half, NAV increased by 
15p per share with gains on financial instruments 
in the portfolio (23p) together with favourable 
foreign currency movements (10p) offset by 
financing costs (13p) and operating costs (5p).

The retained portfolio’s aggregate value 
decreased by £10.4 million, on a constant 
currency basis, which reflects principally a write- 
down in the value of Parques of £12.3 million 
offset by a £2.0 million increase in the valuation 
of Technogym. The impact of foreign currency 
movements had a positive impact of £8.1 million 
on the portfolio valuation, reflecting the weakness 
of Sterling relative to the Euro.

During 2016, Candover’s recurring administrative 
expenses reduced by 40%, helping to minimise 
the adverse impact of costs on NAV performance. 
Finance costs increased following the refinancing 
of the US PP Notes in August 2015. The rise 
reflects the higher interest charge associated 
with the new loan facility. The movements are 
set out in Table 1 of the Financial review. 

Net debt and funding facilities
Net debt during the year decreased by 
£19.5 million to £13.7 million at 31st December 
2016 (31st December 2015: £33.2 million). This 
comprised gross cash balances of £21.3 million 
and gross debt of £35.0 million, including 
accrued interest charges. The decrease in net 
debt reflected the receipt of aggregate realisation 
proceeds of £30.1 million from the Parques and 
Technogym IPOs, together with proceeds from 
completion of the sale of the balance of Stork BV. 
This was offset by accrued interest charges, 
operating expenses and adverse foreign 
currency movements. 

In May 2016, the Company announced that  
the Board had concluded that, given both the 
length of the lock up period and the structure  
of Candover’s debt arrangements, the best  
use of cash balances was to make an initial 
repayment of debt rather than make a distribution 
to shareholders as permitted by the debt 
facility. This decision reflected the fact that 
under the terms of the debt facility a prepayment 
of up to €19.4 million is allowed, subject to the 
lender receiving a minimum return of 1.15x on 
the principal repaid. If this payment had been 
delayed until after 12th August 2016, the 
minimum return would have increased to 1.4x 
principal, diluting net assets by £3.85 million.  
The repayment was completed in late June.

Following the year end, further realisations 
generated proceeds of approximately 
£16.7 million, resulting in Candover, on a  
pro-forma basis, holding a net cash balance 
of approximately £2.3 million.

Realisation activity
In late April 2016, Candover announced the 
partial realisation by Arle of its investments in 
Parques and Technogym, following the IPOs  
of Parques in Spain and Technogym in Italy. 
In the IPO of Parques, Candover sold 7.7% of 
its interest in Parques for net cash proceeds of 
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€3.5 million with the remaining interest in Parques 
valued at €42.1 million at the IPO price. Dealings 
in the shares of Parques commenced on 
29th April 2016, following which the share price 
declined by 1.5% up to 31st December 2016. 
The retained interest in Parques represented 
approximately 3.3% of its share capital. 

In the IPO of Technogym, Candover sold 
71.9% of its interest in Technogym for net cash 
proceeds of €17.3 million, after the exercise of 
the greenshoe option. Candover’s remaining 
interest in Technogym was valued at €7.3 million 
at the IPO price. Dealings in the shares of 
Technogym commenced on 3rd May 2016, 
following which the share price increased by 
36.4% up to 31st December 2016. The retained 
interest in Technogym represented approximately 
0.89% of its share capital.

Following the respective IPOs, both shareholdings 
were subject to lock ups of 180 days from the 
date when shares commenced trading. These 
lock ups expired before the year end. 

Subsequent to the year end, Candover 
announced on 5th January 2017 a further partial 
realisation of its investment in Parques disposing 
of 26% of its interest in Parques for cash proceeds 
of approximately €9.9 million (£8.4 million). 
The remaining interest in Parques is valued at 
€30.4 million (£25.9 million) at the closing price 
of Parques on 4th January 2017 and is subject 
to a new 90 day lock up. Candover’s interest 
in Parques was valued at £35.3 million at 
31st December 2016. Candover retains an 
interest in Parques of approximately 2.5%.

Candover also announced on 10th January 2017 
the realisation of its remaining investment in 
Technogym for cash proceeds of approximately 
€9.5 million (£8.2 million). Candover’s interest 
in Technogym was valued at £8.2 million at 
31st December 2016.

Foreign currency
Candover’s foreign currency exposure was 
simplified at the time of its refinancing in August 
2015. The debt facilities are denominated in 
Euros which partly offsets the portfolio assets 
and cash balances which are Euro denominated.

Management of the Candover Funds
The Limited Partners of the Candover 2005 
Fund agreed in August 2014 to extend the 
original ten-year term of the Fund until March 
2017 to enable Arle to complete the realisation 
of the portfolio. In the light of the forthcoming 
termination of the 2005 Fund, Arle have 
confirmed that they intend to undertake a 
solvent, voluntary liquidation of Arle, which will 
trigger the termination of the Candover 2008 
Fund at the same time. 
 
As a result of the termination of the Funds, 
Candover will no longer be required to have its 
co-investments managed alongside the Funds. 
Given the small number of remaining interests, 
with the significant majority of their value being 
the listed interest in Parques, Candover intends 
to self-manage the final run-off of its portfolio.

Outlook
The profile of Candover, following the realisations 
announced post year end, is quite different 
to that at the start of 2016. The portfolio is no 
longer a private equity portfolio, with over 90% 
of the portfolio value after adjusting for the 
post year end disposals being listed shares in 
Parques. In addition, the realisation proceeds 
received post year end means Candover now 
has net cash, rather than net debt, for the first 
time since 2007.

Furthermore, the impending termination of 
the Candover Funds, and ensuing voluntary 
liquidation of Arle at the end of the first quarter 
of 2017, will result in Candover being able to 
self-manage its remaining portfolio. 

Over the coming months, we will ensure this 
phase of the run-off is completed in a timely 
and efficient way. In particular, the focus will be 
on the timing and options to achieve the disposal 
of the Parques investment, the pay down of 
our current debt facilities and the potential 
distribution of value to shareholders along with 
the cost of managing through this phase of the 
run-off process.

The CEO’s report forms part of the Strategic 
report on pages 4 to 9.

Malcolm Fallen
Chief Executive Officer
4th April 2017
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The Directors present the Strategic report  
of the Group for the year ended 31st December 
2016, including an assessment of both the 
risks impacting Candover and the viability of 
the Group.

Objectives and business model
Candover was a mid-market UK and European 
private equity investor. Following the change in 
investment policy approved by shareholders on 
22nd December 2010, the Group’s main activity 
is to focus solely on returning cash to investors 
dependent on when portfolio realisations are 
made by the investment manager. The Company 
will remain as a listed investment trust but will 
no longer make new investments. 

Investment policy and strategy
Under the Company’s previous investment policy, 
its principal focus was investing alongside other 
third parties in the Candover Funds. Up until the 
point that the Candover Funds terminate, the 
Company remains contractually committed to the 
co-investments that it has made and accordingly 
such investments will only be realised when the 
Candover Funds dispose of their own interests in 
such investments. 

The Company will not make any new investments 
save that: (i) investments may be made to satisfy 
commitments to the Candover Funds under 
existing contractual arrangements; and (ii) 
realised cash may be invested in liquid cash-
equivalent securities, including short-dated 
corporate bonds, government bonds, cash 
funds, or bank cash deposits. No more than 15% 
of the Company’s qualifying investments may be 
invested in any single cash equivalent instrument 
or placed on deposit with any single institution, 
except that this limit does not apply to investment 
in appropriately rated government bonds, which 
are unconstrained.

The Company will continue to comply with 
the requirements of the UK Investment Trust 
legislation and the restrictions imposed by 
the Listing Rules in force from time to time. 
The Company will make dividend payments 
in compliance with the relevant investment 
trust conditions. However, these dividend 
payments will be reviewed in the context of 
the strategy of delivering a progressive return 
of cash to shareholders over time as realisations 
are achieved by the investment manager. 

Any material change to the Company’s 
investment policy would require shareholder 
approval in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Analysis of current and future development
A review of the year and outlook is provided in 
the Chairman’s letter, CEO’s report and 
Manager’s portfolio review, pages 1 to 17.

The Board regularly reviews the development 
and strategic direction of the Company to ensure 
the primary objective of returning value to 
shareholders is achieved. 
 
Investment returns and revenues
The Company’s investment returns and  
revenues will be derived from its co-investment 
arrangements. The Company’s commitment  
to co-invest alongside the Candover Funds  
is set out in the co-investment agreement for 
each fund entered into between the Company, 
the general partner or manager of the various 
limited partnerships making up the relevant 
Candover Fund and other investors. Other 
than with respect to the Candover 2008 Fund,  
each co-investment agreement requires the 
Company to contribute its proportionate share  
of any investment made by the relevant Candover 
Fund. In August 2013, the last such remaining 
commitment to the 2005 Fund lapsed.
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Other than with respect to the Candover 2008 
Fund, the Company also participates in the 
profits from the Candover Funds, subject to  
an overall minimum return having first been 
generated for third party investors. The exact 
percentage received by the Company in respect 
of the Candover 2005 Fund will be determined 
by a ratchet mechanism, which is based on the 
investment multiple achieved. Based on current 
valuations, no value is recognised in respect of 
the Candover 2005 Fund. The Company gave  
up its carried interest entitlement in respect  
of the Candover 2008 Fund as part of the agreed 
settlement to terminate the investment period  
of that Fund.

The Company earns income from interest on 
loan notes structured as part of an investment in 
a portfolio company and from its cash balances.

Performance indicators
The Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs’)  
used to measure the progress of the Group  
by the Board are:

 – the movement in net asset value per  
ordinary share

 – net debt.

Our performance against these KPIs is set  
out in the Key metrics and also covered as part 
of the CEO’s report on pages 2 and 3.

Risk review 
Principal risks and risk management
The Group has conducted a review  
of risks affecting its business. The approach 
taken was to: (i) categorise areas of risk;  
(ii) identify individual material risks; and (iii) 
evaluate the inherent impact of that risk before 
controls are applied.

Risks have been categorised as either 
strategic, financial and investment, operational 
or people. The Directors have identified 
existing controls in relation to each risk and  
the extent to which such controls operate  
as effective mitigants. In addition, actions 
designed to enhance controls have been 
identified and responsibility for the 
management of each risk has been allocated. 

The review highlighted the risks inherent in 
private equity and those which are foreseeable 
and avoidable and therefore could, to a greater 
extent, be eliminated. The review also noted 
that, whilst the overall risk profile for Candover 
was not inherently severe, the ability to 
mitigate those risks associated with either the 
private equity asset class or arising from the 
Group’s particular business model was limited.

Our key risks are set out on pages 6 and 7.
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Strategic risk
Risk summary:
Single material 
asset failure

Risk mitigation: 
As the investment portfolio matures and exits take place, 
Candover’s exposure to the remaining assets in the portfolio 
increases. This creates a risk that if a material asset amongst 
those remaining were to significantly reduce in value or fail, 
the impact on the Group’s returns could be disproportionately 
negative. Periodic reviews of all portfolio investments are 
completed by the Board. As realisations occur and the 
Group moves to a net cash position, the impact of the risk 
will be reduced.

Financial and investment risk
Risk summary:
Company’s capital 
structure results in an 
inability to maximise value

Risk mitigation: 
The Company’s current debt facility raised in July 2015  
has no covenants and is not due for repayment until 2020.  
This provides significant flexibility to support the Group. 
Subsequent to the year end, the Company repaid its debt 
facility in full utilising surplus cash balances.

Risk summary:
Failure to meet financial 
commitments

Risk mitigation: 
The Group actively monitors the level of indebtedness as well 
as tracking the progress which the investment manager is 
making towards realising the investments. The Company’s debt 
facility raised in July 2015 has no covenants and is not due for 
repayment until 2020. This provides significant flexibility to 
support the Group. Subsequent to the year end, the Company 
repaid its debt facility in full utilising surplus cash balances. 

Risk summary:
Financial market risks 
impacting on NAV

Risk mitigation: 
The Group’s investment returns may be negatively affected by 
the impact of adverse currency and interest rate fluctuations 
and negative movements in valuation multiples. If appropriate, 
the Group is able to mitigate this risk by the use of hedging 
techniques and regular forecasts of its liquidity position. The 
new Euro debt facility raised in July 2015 provides a hedge 
against a proportion of the Euro assets of the Group.

Risk summary:
Counterparty risk 
resulting in loss

Risk mitigation: 
The failure of a contractual counterparty in a financial 
transaction entered into by the Group may cause loss to the 
Company’s shareholders. This risk is addressed by the use 
of reputable counterparties and the segregation of cash held 
with third parties.
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Operational risk
Risk summary:
Failure of operational 
systems and procedures 
at the Company’s third 
party service providers

Risk mitigation: 
The Group has contractual management and administrative 
arrangements in place covering the provision of investment 
management and certain business support services.  
The arrangements clearly delineate responsibilities and refer  
to appropriate procedures and processes that are required  
to be observed in the management of the Group’s investments. 
The Group monitors the services provided by third parties  
to ensure that they meet the Group’s objectives and as a means 
of assessing whether operational performance is adversely  
affecting the Group.

Risk summary:
Change in regulatory or 
legislative environment

Risk mitigation: 
While the regulation of the private equity industry has  
seen increased focus from policy makers and central banks  
in recent years, it is anticipated that this trend will increase  
in the short to medium term. In the light of the Group’s strategy 
to progressively return cash to shareholders as the portfolio  
is realised, unless any regulatory change is retrospective, 
the impact is no longer seen as significant.

People
Risk summary:
Inadequate Board 
composition, inadequate 
corporate governance 
and loss of executive  
skills and knowledge

Risk mitigation: 
The Group’s failure to adhere to applicable corporate 
governance standards, and a failure to ensure the appropriate 
level of skills at Board level, including continued access  
to the current level of executive skills and knowledge, are 
factors which could result in financial loss, reputational damage  
or a drop in the Company’s share price as a result of poor 
decision making. The Group addresses these risks by: 
ensuring effective Board membership; annual Board evaluation; 
and by the Remuneration Committee ensuring appropriate 
reward structures exist for the Chief Executive Officer. 
In addition, through the Chairman, the Company Secretary 
provides effective guidance on corporate governance matters.
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Viability statement
The Directors have assessed the viability of the 
Group over a one-year period, taking account of:

 – the Group’s unusual current position;
 – the Group being seven years into a managed, 

orderly run-off with only three assets 
remaining in its investment portfolio with one 
investment representing over 90% of the 
portfolio value; and

 – the potential impact of the principal risks 
and uncertainties documented in this 
Strategic report.

The Directors conducted their assessment over 
this period because they believe the realisation 
of the majority of the investments should be 
completed over this period. Furthermore, 
they consider this to be an appropriate period 
over which they do not expect there to be any 
significant changes in the current principal risks 
and adequacy of the mitigating controls in place.

Also the Directors do not envisage any change 
in strategy or objectives or any events that 
would prevent the Group from continuing to 
operate over that period as the Group has 
access to adequate liquidity, and its 
commitments are limited solely to meeting any 
operating and financing costs which are incurred.

The assessment has considered the impact 
of the likelihood of the principal risks and 
uncertainties facing the Group delaying the 
run-off of the investment assets. In particular the 
Directors considered the nature of the Group’s 
investments, which are dominated by Parques, 
a listed investment. The Board will be able to 
realise the investment in Parques at its discretion 
and when it is in the best interest of shareholders 
following the termination of the Candover Funds 
at the end of March 2017. The Directors also took 
into account the access to adequate and flexible 
financing arrangements in considering the 
viability of the Group over the next year and its 
ability to meet liabilities as they fall due. This 
included consideration of: the duration of the 
Group’s long-term borrowings; debt repayment 
obligations; and how the timing and level of 
realisation proceeds together with anticipated 
expenditure levels could impact on the 
Company’s ability to return cash to shareholders 
over that period in line with its current strategy.

Based on their assessment, the Directors have 
a reasonable expectation that the Group will 
be able to continue in operation and meet its 
liabilities as they fall due over the foreseeable 
future. A substantial financial crisis affecting 
the global economy could have an impact on 
this assessment.

Social, community, human rights 
and environmental issues
The Group interprets corporate responsibility  
as having due regard to society’s expectations  
of how we manage our business, as well as 
making sure that non-financial issues do not 
impact negatively on Candover’s reputation to 
the detriment of our shareholders. It endorses 
good governance (further details on pages 
24 to 31), sustainable business practices and 
policies that promote fair social and 
environmental treatment.

The Group takes care to comply with 
all relevant legislation and to ensure that 
we are a reasonable and fair employer.  
We maintain positive relationships with all  
of our business partners, our shareholders  
and our investment manager.

We are of the view that the direct environmental, 
community, human rights and social impact  
of Candover is relatively low. Our principal 
impacts in these areas, and the consequent  
risks and opportunities, arise in the portfolio 
companies which operate in a diverse range  
of sectors and countries. Candover does not 
manage these businesses directly and the 
Company’s status as a co-investor alongside  
the Funds currently managed by Arle limits our 
influence further. 
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Employees
There are currently three male Non-Executive 
Directors on the Board, and one male Executive 
Director. There are no female Directors at present.

The Board favours diversity and welcomes 
appointments that contribute towards a breadth  
of skills, experience and diversity, and, through  
the Nominations Committee, selects Directors  
on merit with relevant and complementary  
skills to help the Group maximise value for 
shareholders. Given the small size of the Group 
and its divestment policy, the Board does not 
intend to develop a specific diversity policy.

As at 31st December 2016, the employee gender 
breakdown of the Group is 50:50 with one male 
Executive Director and one female employee.

Information regarding Candover’s employees is 
given in Note 2 to the Financial statements on 
page 60 and in the Directors’ remuneration report 
on pages 32 to 38.

On behalf of the Board

Malcolm Fallen
Chief Executive Officer

34 Lime Street 
London EC3M 7AT
4th April 2017
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Net asset value per share
Net asset value per share after exceptional 
non-recurring costs was 163p, representing 
a full year decrease of 33% since 31st December 
2015 (243p) and an increase of 10% since 
30th June 2016 (148p). 

The decrease of 80p per share was split 
between the loss on disposal of investments 
(-15p), a decrease in constant currency 
investment values (-48p), overall favourable 
currency movements (26p), and the impact of 
ongoing costs (-43p). These costs comprised 
loan note interest, our investment manager’s 
fee and general administration costs.

Table 1 £m p/share

Net asset value at  
31st December 2015 53.2 243
Loss on financial instruments 
and other income1 (13.7) (63)
Recurring administrative expenses (2.1) (10)
Finance costs recurring (7.4) (33)
Currency impact:
 – Unrealised investments 8.1 37
 – Re-translation of cash and 
cash equivalents 3.5 16

 – Translation of loan (6.0) (27)
Exceptional non-recurring losses – –
Net asset value at  
31st December 2016  
as reported 35.6 163

1 Stated before unfavourable currency impact of £8.1 million

Investments
The valuation of investments, including carried 
interest and accrued loan note interest, 
was £46.7 million at 31st December 2016 
(31st December 2015: £82.6 million). Valuations 
decreased for the year by £10.4 million, before 
currency effects and after adjusting for disposals, 
representing a decrease of 21% on the value of 
these investments over their 31st December 2015 
value. The overall decrease of 5% in the value 
of the portfolio was £2.3 million which included 
£8.1 million of favourable foreign currency 
movements reflecting the weakening of Sterling 
relative to the Euro and the US Dollar.

Table 2 £m

Investments at 31st December 2015 82.6
Disposals at valuation (33.6)
Additions at cost –
Investments adjusted for additions  
and disposals 49.0
Revaluation of investments:
 – Valuation movements before  
currency impact (10.4)

 – Currency impact on unrealised 
investments (8.1)

Investments at 31st December 2016 46.7

Net debt
Candover’s net debt decreased from £33.2 million 
at 31st December 2015 to £13.7 million at 
31st December 2016. This reflects the cash inflow 
from realisations offset by the impact of interest 
accrued on borrowings, operating expenses and 
adverse foreign currency movements in the period. 

Table 3 31st December  
2016  

£m

31st December 
2015  

£m

Loans and borrowings 34.7 39.4
Deferred costs 0.3 0.3
Value of loan/bonds 35.0 39.7
Cash (21.3) (6.5)
Net debt 13.7 33.2
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Profit before and after tax
Net revenue loss before tax and exceptional 
non-recurring gains and losses from operations 
for the year was a loss of £15.5 million compared 
to a profit of £0.6 million in the prior year.

Including capital costs of £4.1 million (2015: 
£4.1 million), total administrative and finance costs  
in the year were £9.5 million (2015: £9.9 million), 
which included £0.8 million (2015: £1.8 million)  
of management fees paid to Arle, linked to the 
value of investments managed, and £7.4 million  
of financing costs (2015: £6.4 million). 

There was no exceptional non-recurring gain  
or loss in the year (2015: loss £5.1 million).

Reported net revenue loss after taxation  
was £15.5 million compared to £6.6 million 
loss in the prior year.
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Arle Capital Partners Limited 

Introduction
Arle is the private equity asset manager  
of the Candover 2005 Fund and Candover  
2008 Fund (together ‘the Candover Funds’ or 
‘Funds’), as well as special purpose vehicles.

Termination of the Candover Funds
Contractually the Candover 2005 Fund is due 
to terminate on 31st March 2017. As a result, 
and recognising that Arle and the Candover 
Funds have been in wind-down for a number 
of years, Arle has informed investors in the 
Candover Funds that it intends to enter a solvent 
voluntary liquidation at or around that date, with 
the Candover 2008 Fund also being terminated 
on 31st March 2017. 

This will allow an orderly wind-up of the 
Candover Funds. Discussions have taken place 
with the Advisory Boards of the Candover Funds, 
together with their legal and financial advisers, 
and the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Plans for remaining investments
Arle intends to realise the investment in Hilding 
Anders pre-31st March 2017, and then post the 
termination of the Candover Funds return cash 
to investors and distribute in specie the residual 
interests in Expro International (‘Expro’) and 
Parques.

Over the past year, Arle has partially realised its 
investment in Parques Reunidos (‘Parques’), via 
an initial IPO in Spain and a subsequent placing 
of additional shares. The remaining equity stake 
in Parques is subject to a lock up until early April 
2017. It is therefore proposed that these shares 
will be distributed directly to investors, in specie, 
in early April. 

In respect of the Funds’ investment in Expro, 
a new holding vehicle will be created and 
managed by Arle to ensure continuity under 
Expro’s banking arrangements. The current 
interests in Expro will be transferred to this 
holding vehicle prior to 31st March 2017. 
Investors will then become shareholders in the 
new holding vehicle for Expro. This vehicle will 
be the entity reporting on Expro and will enable 
Arle to materially reduce the complexity of the 
holding structure of the investment. The Expro 
investment remains subject to lock up until 
June 2020, although earlier sale opportunities 
may be considered and pursued. 

The purpose of these steps is to enable an 
orderly wind-up of the Candover Funds and 
related investment vehicles, as well as to reduce 
ongoing costs post the termination period. 
Once the Parques and Expro interests are 
distributed, there will be no remaining assets in 
the Candover Funds, such that those funds can 
be fully liquidated, and investors will no longer 
hold any interests through the Candover Funds. 

2016 portfolio overview
In 2016, the Candover Funds’ portfolio 
continued to be readied for exit by optimising 
the operational and financial performance 
of its residual companies. At the year end, 
the portfolio comprised Parques, Technogym, 
Expro International and Hilding Anders.

During the twelve month period to 31st 
December 2016, Arle successfully launched 
the public listings of two investee companies. 
In April 2016, Parques was listed in Spain and 
Technogym was listed in Italy. In both IPOs, 
Arle retained an equity stake with a lock-in 
period of 180 days. 

During the year, Arle also undertook a capital 
restructuring of Expro and a sale was agreed 
to exchange the equity in Hilding Anders 
for a more liquid interest in a debt instrument. 
This transaction is expected to complete, 
subject to the customary competition clearances, 
in Q1 2017.
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In early 2017, Arle sold its remaining equity stake 
in Technogym via an accelerated share placing 
in Italy and placed a further 10% of the share 
capital in Parques. 

The overall valuation of the Candover Funds’ 
portfolio on 31st December 2016 was 
€555 million, compared to €485 million in June 
2016 and €1,229 million on 31st December 2015 
with realisation proceeds in the first half of the 
year of €489 million. 

Realisations 
The IPO of Parques generated cash proceeds 
of £2.7 million for Candover with a valuation of 
the residual listed shares as at 31st December 
2016 of £35.3 million. This gave a combined 
value of £38.0 million compared to the value 
at 31st December 2015 of £43.4 million. 

The IPO of Technogym generated cash proceeds 
of £13.1 million for Candover with a valuation 
of the residual listed shares as at 31st December 
2016 of £8.2 million. This gave a combined 
value of £21.3 million compared to the value 
at 31st December 2015 of £22.5 million.

Post year end, the sale of further shares in 
Parques and the disposal of Arle’s residual stake 
in Technogym generated cash proceeds for 
Candover of circa £8.4 million and £8.3 million 
respectively. 

Portfolio composition
The residual portfolio is almost entirely based 
in Western Europe. Whilst Spain represented 
75.6% of the investments by value, the portfolio 
companies themselves are well diversified in 
the regions in which they trade. The portfolio 
was exposed mostly to the services and 
industrial sector. 

Portfolio valuation review 
The Candover Funds’ portfolio valuation 
decreased by 15.0% year-on-year with the 
decrease in value of Candover’s co-investments 
in the portfolio of £6.6 million (30.0 pence per 
share) representing a 12.3% reduction on its value 
at the start of 2016, after adjusting for additions 
and disposals. 
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1 Parques Reunidos
Industry sector: Services
Geography: Spain
Date of investment: March 2007
Residual cost of investment £m: 30.3
Directors’ valuation £m: 35.3
Change over prior valuation £m:  
Effective equity interest (fully diluted): 3.4%
% of Candover’s net assets: 99.2%
Basis of valuation: Listed price
Dividends received £m: –
Year end: September 

2016
Sales: €584m
Earnings1: €188m

Parques is a leading global operator of regional 
leisure parks and one of the three truly global 
leisure park operators. It operates a well diversified 
portfolio of 57 different attraction parks, animal 
parks, water parks, family entertainment centres 
and other attractions which attract approximately 
20 million visitors each year.

On 29th April 2016, Arle announced a partial 
exit as part of the IPO of Parques on the Madrid, 
Barcelona, Bilbao and Valencia stock exchanges 

and on the Automated Quotation System or 
Mercado Continuo of the Spanish Stock 
Exchanges at €15.50 per share, a discount of 
23% to the valuation at 31st December 2015. 
Net proceeds from the IPO of €35.0 million were 
raised through a sale of 7.7% of the Candover 
Fund’s investment. On listing, an interest of 33.9% 
of the ordinary share capital was retained and was 
subject to a lock up period of 180 days. 

In January 2017, Arle announced a 10% placement 
of shares in Parques at €14.20 per share 
through an accelerated book building exercise. 
This represented a 6.9% discount to the prior day’s 
closing price. The placement was launched 
following a positive trading performance which had 
been reported in its financial results. Post the sale, 
Arle retains circa 23 million shares representing 
25.1% of the company’s share capital, a reduction 
of 26% since IPO. This will be subject to a 90 day 
lock up.

On 8th February 2017, Parques reported a first 
quarter revenue increase of 7.2% (12.4% like-for-
like) to €70.5 million compared to the prior year and 
a 45% improvement in EBITDA (86% like-for-like). 
Strategic initiatives to extend the season with 
off-season events during Q1 delivered positive 
results. In particular, Christmas and Halloween 
campaigns in the parks resulted in a 14% uplift in 
sales compared to the prior year.

Table 1 shows the valuation movement by reference to each portfolio company.
Table 1

Portfolio company

Residual 
cost1

£m

Valuation 
at 31st 

December 
2015

£m

Additions 
and 

disposals 
£m

Valuation 
movement 
excluding 

FX2 
£m

Valuation 
movement

attributable 
to FX2 

£m

Valuation
at 31st

December
2016 

£m

Valuation
movement
pence per

share

Parques Reunidos 30.3 43.4 (2.6) (12.3) 6.8 35.3 (25.0)
Technogym3 8.3 22.5 (13.1) (2.1) 0.9 8.2 (5.0)
Expro International 94.4 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.6 0.0
Hilding Anders 24.3 1.5 0.0 (0.1) 0.2 1.6 0.0
Stork 5.0 14.1 (13.7) (0.1) 0.0 0.3 0.0
Total investments 162.3 82.0 (29.4) (14.6) 8.0 46.0 (30.0)
Other4 18.1 0.6 0.0 (0.0) 0.1 0.7 0.0
Other investments 180.4 82.6 (29.4) (14.6) 8.1 46.7 (30.0)

1 Residual cost is original cost less realisations to date
2 Compared to the valuation at 31st December 2015 or acquisition date, if later
3 During the period a partial realisation of Technogym generated proceeds of £13.1 million. Taking into account the discount 

to the year end valuation on IPO and subsequent upward movement in the value of the investment retained, the overall value 
of the investment in Technogym decreased by £2.1 million in the period (excluding FX). From an accounting perspective this 
movement was treated as a realised loss on IPO of the investment of £3.9 million with a subsequent uplift in the investment 
retained from the date of the IPO to 31st December 2016 of £2.0 million

4 Represents assets sold in 2015 and other co-investments
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In Q1 2016/17, Parques delivered positive trading 
results in all its markets. However, Spain was a key 
contributor with revenues reaching €22.2 million, 
a 15.9% like-for-like increase compared to the prior 
year. Revenue in the rest of Europe grew by 14% 
on a like-for-like basis. The United States recorded 
positive results, with a like-for-like growth of 1.6% 
and an increase in pre-sales of 25%.

On 31st December 2016, the Candover Funds’ 
residual stake in the listed shares, which is held 
via an intermediate holding company, was valued 
at €415 million. Candover’s valuation reduced by 
£12.3 million, before positive currency movements 
of £6.8 million (total: -25p per share).

Company website
www.parquesreunidos.com

2 Technogym
Industry sector: Industrials
Geography: Italy
Date of investment: August 

2008
Residual cost of investment £m: 8.3
Directors’ valuation £m: 8.2
Change over prior valuation £m: (1.2)
Effective equity interest (fully diluted): 1.1%
% of Candover’s net assets: 23.0%
Basis of valuation: Listed price
Dividends received £m: –
Year end: December 

2015
Sales: €512m
Earnings1: €87m

Technogym is a world-leading supplier of 
technology and design-driven products and 
services in the Wellness and Fitness industry. 
Founded in 1983, Technogym provides a 
complete range of cardio, strength and functional 
equipment alongside a cloud-based digital 
platform enabling consumers to connect with 
their personal wellness experience anywhere, 
both on Technogym equipment and via mobile 
apps on any device. Technogym targets four 
specific market segments: Fitness Clubs; 
Hospitality & Residential; Health, Corporate & 
Public; and Consumer.

At the end of April 2016, Arle announced the 
IPO of Technogym on the Mercato Telematico 
Azionario (‘MTA’), organised and managed by 
the Borsa Italiana S.p.A. at €3.25 per share, 
a discount of 19% to 31st December 2015 
valuation, resulting in a market capitalisation of 
€650 million. Gross proceeds of €186.9 million 
were raised by Arle by listing 25% of Technogym’s 
share capital and a further 3.75% from the 
greenshoe option. A 15% stake was retained 
by Arle but this reduced to 11.25% after the 
greenshoe option was fully utilised. 

Technogym’s shares performed strongly during 
the second half of the year and on 4th August 
2016, the company reported strong maiden 
results for the six months to 30th June 2016. 
Technogym reported double digit revenue 
growth of 10.5% to €250 million compared to 
the same period in 2015. Excluding the foreign 
exchange impact, revenue growth was 12.4%. 
EBITDA growth was also strong with a 22.9% 
improvement to €35.2 million in the first half of 
2016. At constant exchange rates, this was a 
30.1% rise. 

At the start of 2017, the shares reached a record 
high post IPO and a share placement was 
launched on 9th January 2017, facilitating the 
sale of Arle’s remaining shareholding in the 
business, through an accelerated book building 
offer. The placement, corresponding to 11.25% 
of the company’s share capital, was priced at 
€4.45 per share, a 1.3% premium to the prior 
month value weighted average price and a 37% 
premium to the April 2016 IPO price. Demand 
for the shares was in excess of three times the 
offer size.

On 31st December 2016, the Candover Funds’ 
residual stake in the listed shares, which is 
held via an intermediate holding company, 
was valued at €96.9 million. Candover’s interests 
in Technogym was valued at the year end 
at £8.2 million, a decrease of £2.1 million, 
before positive foreign currency movements 
of £0.9 million (total: -5p per share).

The full exit from Arle’s investment in 
Technogym generated cash proceeds of 
£8.2 million for Candover, which is in line 
with the 31st December 2016 valuation.
 
Company website
www.technogym.com
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3 Hilding Anders
Industry sector: Industrials
Geography: Sweden
Date of investment: December 

2006 
Residual cost of investment £m: 24.3
Directors’ valuation £m: 1.6
Change over prior valuation £m: 0.2
Effective equity interest (fully diluted): 4.3%
% of Candover’s net assets: 4.5%
Basis of valuation: Multiple of 

earnings
Dividends received £m: –
Year end: December 

2015
Sales: SEK 8,578m
Earnings1: SEK 1,196m

Founded in 1939, Hilding Anders has grown 
to become the leading bed manufacturer in 
Europe, Russia and Asia. The company has 9,500 
employees at 23 sites across 19 countries, and sells 
products in 65 local markets, generating revenues 
of €917 million in 2015. 

In 2016, Hilding Anders delivered a good trading 
performance in Europe and Asia while Russia’s 
performance was below plan, driven by more 
difficult market conditions. As planned, in Q2 2016 
the business successfully exercised a call option to 
increase its stake in the Russian subsidiary.

Hilding Anders also successfully extended the 
maturities of its debt facilities by 2.5 years in an 
Amend & Extend process, providing the business 
with flexibility and time to execute on the European 
cost initiative programme, and to capitalise on the 
Asian and Russian growth.

On 29th November 2016, an agreement was made 
to sell Arle’s equity interests in Hilding Anders to KKR 
in return for a more liquid debt instrument, subject to 
regulatory clearances.
 
Candover’s valuation was written down by 
£0.1 million, before positive exchange movements 
of £0.2 million.

Company website
www.hildinganders.com

4 Expro International
Industry sector: Energy
Geography: UK
Date of investment: July 2008
Residual cost of investment £m: 94.4
Directors’ valuation £m: 0.6
Change over prior valuation £m: 0.1
Effective equity interest (fully diluted): 0.3%
% of Candover’s net assets: 1.7%
Basis of valuation: Multiple of 

earnings
Dividends received £m: –
Year end: March 2016
Sales: US$915m
Earnings1: US$228m

Expro is a leading oilfield services provider 
specialising in well flow management. The 
company provides services and products that 
measure, improve, control and process flow from 
high-value oil and gas wells, from exploration 
and appraisal through to mature field production 
optimisation and enhancement.
 
Expro’s vision is to be the market leader in well 
flow management, using the industry’s best 
people, to deliver the highest standards of safety, 
quality and personalised customer service. 
Expro’s 40 years of experience and innovation 
empowers the company to offer tailor-made 
solutions for customers across the energy 
sector, including multinational oil majors, 
as well as state-owned national oil companies. 
With over 4,500 employees across 50 countries, 
Expro offers a global service solution.

On 25th October 2016, it was announced that 
an agreement had been reached between 
Expro’s shareholders and lenders representing 
approximately 98% of the borrowings under 
its Mezzanine Facility Agreement (‘Consenting 
Lenders’) to implement a capital restructuring. 
This restructuring eliminated virtually all of the 
company’s Mezzanine Facility (approximately 
$784 million of $800 million).

Consenting lenders exchanged their entire 
outstanding principal and accrued PIK interest 
for equity in Expro International Group Holdings 
Ltd, Expro’s ultimate parent company. This 
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significantly reduced the Company’s leverage, 
removed all of the financial maintenance 
covenants under the Mezzanine Facility and 
will save approximately $40 million annually in 
cash interest. Under the Credit Agreement, the 
exchange did not result in a change of control.

The successful restructuring of Expro’s capital 
provides a strong foundation from which to 
grow the company as it positions itself for the 
next upturn in the oil and gas industry.

Expro’s strategy remains on course and the 
business will continue to focus on its strengths 
of investing in differentiated technology and 
delivering the highest standards of safety, 
technology and service quality to our customers.

Candover’s valuation was unchanged with 
a positive foreign exchange movement of 
£0.1 million.

Company website
www.exprogroup.com

Arle Capital Partners Limited
4th April 2017

The portfolio
Analysis by value at 31st December 2016 
(representing 100% of the Arle managed 
portfolio)

By valuation method
1. Listed price 95%
2. Multiple of earnings 5%

By region
1. Spain 77%
2. Italy 18%
3. Nordic 4%
4. United Kingdom 1%

By sector
1. Services 77%
2. Industrials 22%
3. Energy & Natural Resources 1%

By age
1. Greater than five years 100%
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the period



Investments are valued by the investment 
manager in compliance with the principles of 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement 
and the International Private Equity and Venture 
Capital Valuation Guidelines as recommended by 
the British Venture Capital Association (the ‘BVCA’).

Principles of valuation of unlisted investments 
Investments are stated at amounts considered 
by the investment manager to be a reasonable 
assessment of their fair value. Fair value is  
the price that would be received to sell an  
asset in an orderly transaction between  
market participants at the measurement date.  
In estimating fair value, a methodology is 
used which is appropriate in light of the nature, 
facts and circumstances of the investment. 

Investments are valued on one of the bases 
described below. Typically, the earnings 
multiple basis of valuation will be used unless 
this is inappropriate, as in the case of certain 
asset-based businesses.

When valuing on an earnings basis, profits 
before interest and tax of the current year will 
normally be used. Such profits will be adjusted 
to a maintainable basis and multiplied by an 
appropriate and reasonable earnings multiple 
normally related to comparable quoted 
companies, with adjustments made for points  
of difference between the comparator and the 
company being valued, in particular for risks, 
earnings growth prospects and surplus assets 
or excess liabilities. In addition, factors such  
as the likely timing of an exit, the influence  
over that exit, the risk of achieving conditions 
precedent to that exit and general market 
conditions are considered when evaluating  
the price/earnings multiple.

Where a company has incurred losses, or if 
comparable quoted companies are not primarily 
valued on an earnings basis, then the valuation 
may be calculated with regard to the underlying 
net assets and any other relevant information, 
such as the pricing for subsequent recent 
investments by a third party that is deemed  
to be at arm’s length. In cases where an exit is 
actively being sought, any offers from potential 
purchasers would be relevant in assessing the 
valuation of an investment and are taken into 
account in arriving at the valuation.

When investments have obtained an exit  
(either by listing or trade sale) after the valuation 
date but before finalisation of the accounts  
of the relevant Candover Funds, the valuation  
is based on the exit valuation subject to an 
appropriate discount to take account of the time 
period between the valuation and exit dates 
and any risks that might impact on completion.

When investments have obtained a partial exit 
by way of listing, these investments may be 
valued using a function of the listed price of 
the underlying investee company. 

In arriving at the value of an investment, 
the percentage ownership is calculated 
after considering any potential dilution 
through outstanding warrants, options and 
performance-related mechanisms.

Valuation procedures
Valuations prepared by the investment manager 
are initially prepared by its finance department 
using comparable multiples sourced from an 
independent third party and financial results 
provided by the portfolio companies. These are 
then passed to the relevant investment executive 
for review and comment, in particular with 
respect to the sustainability of earnings and level 
of underlying debt; the comparables; and any 
adjustments to be made thereto for points  
of difference. Any changes to earnings basis  
or comparables used in a valuation, compared  
to the prior valuation, must be approved by the 
senior management of the investment manager.

These valuations are then subject to review, 
challenge and approval by the senior 
management of the investment manager, 
who at the same time will discuss the underlying 
trading and outlook, both internal and external,  
of the portfolio company.

The valuations are included in the financial 
statements of both Candover and the Candover 
Funds, which are audited by separate 
independent auditors.
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The Company’s Board of Directors (the ‘Directors’ 
or the ‘Board’) sets the strategic direction for the 
business and is the principal body responsible 
for decision making. The Board’s remit includes 
strategy, oversight of the investment management 
agreement, risk assessment and regulatory 
issues. The performance of the Board is subject 
to an annual evaluation.

Each of the Directors listed below served on the 
Board throughout the year.

Richard Stone FCA – Chairman
Appointment date: May 2005 and was 
appointed Chairman in April 2011
Committee membership: Member of the Audit, 
Risk and Valuation Committee, the Nominations 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Background and relevant experience: He served 
as Deputy Chairman of Coopers & Lybrand; 
Chairman of the firm’s European corporate finance 
activities; and as a member of the global board 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. He served 
as a Director of Halma plc (latterly as Senior 
Independent Director) and as a Director of TR 
Property Investment Trust plc. He also served as 
Chairman of Drambuie Limited and Henderson 
Global Trust plc.
External appointments: None.

Malcolm Fallen – Chief Executive Officer
Appointment date: September 2009
Committee membership: None.
Background and relevant experience: He was 
previously Director and Chief Executive Officer  
of KCOM Group PLC, a UK-based IT and 
telecommunications services business. Prior to 
KCOM he was Chief Financial Officer of eircom, 
the incumbent telecommunications operator 
in Eire. His previous career has included senior 
roles with Bowater, BT and British Biotech.
External appointments: Non-Executive 
Chairman of Kentech Corporate Holdings Limited 
and Chairman of Enders Analysis Limited. Up 
until 28th February 2017 he was Non-Executive 
Chairman of Innovia Group (Holding 1) Limited.

Jan Oosterveld – Senior Independent 
Director 
Appointment date: October 2008
Committee membership: Appointed as 
Senior Independent Director on 1st January 
2015. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
and the Nominations Committee. Member of 
the Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee.
Background and relevant experience: He spent 
32 years with Royal Philips Electronics where 
he was a member of the Group Management 
Committee responsible for corporate strategy. 
He was also the Chief Executive Officer of Philips 
Asia Pacific and Chairman of the Board of 
LG Philips LCD. He also served as Non-Executive 
Director of Vesuvius plc and Alent plc.
External appointments: Barco NV.

Scott Longhurst FCA – Non-Executive 
Director
Appointment date: May 2011
Committee membership: Chairman of the Audit, 
Risk and Valuation Committee, Member of the 
Nominations Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee.
Background and relevant experience: He has 
held a variety of senior finance positions in 
the energy sector across Asia, the Middle East, 
Europe and the US for Shell and TXU Corp, 
and is currently Group Finance Director of 
Anglian Water Group (‘AWG’).
External appointments: Group Finance Director 
of AWG. Managing Director of AWG’s non-
regulated businesses. Founder member of 
HRH The Prince of Wales’ Accounting for 
Sustainability CFO Leadership Network.
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The Directors present their report containing 
statutory and corporate governance information 
together with the audited financial statements  
for the year ended 31st December 2016.

Tax and investment company status 
The Company carries on business as an 
investment trust and has been accepted as  
an approved investment trust by HM Revenue  
& Customs under Sections 1158 and 1159  
of the Corporation Tax Act 2010, subject to  
the Company continuing to meet eligibility 
conditions. The Directors are of the opinion  
that the Company has conducted its affairs  
in a manner which will satisfy the conditions  
for continued approval.

Investment management and administration
An arm’s length transaction services agreement 
that governs the investment advisory activities 
that Arle carries out on behalf of the Company 
was entered into with effect from 19th April 2011, 
appointing Arle to act as adviser in respect of the 
co-investments which the Company has made 
alongside the Candover Funds. The fees payable 
by the Company are 1.5% of the aggregate of 
the book value of the investments (excluding the 
value of the Company’s holdings in the carried 
interest), payable in advance on a bi-annual 
basis. The termination of the Candover Funds 
which occurred on 31st March 2017 has resulted 
in this agreement being terminated.

This arrangement does not affect the Company’s 
participation in the carried interest arrangements 
for the Candover 2005 Fund.

Ipes (UK) Limited (‘the Administrator’) was 
appointed on 1st November 2011 to provide 
fund administration services to the Company, 
which include, but are not limited to, accounting 
administration and company secretarial services.

Results and dividends
The Financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries for the year to 31st December 2016 
appear on pages 44 to 83.

The Group’s net revenue loss from operations 
before taxation for the year was £15.5 million 
(2015: profit £4.5 million). Capital return for the year 
was a loss of £2.1 million (2015: loss £59.4 million).

The changes in fixed asset investments are 
described, together with a review of Candover’s 
activities, in the CEO’s report, Financial review  
and Manager’s portfolio review on pages 2, 3 and 
10 to 17.

The Directors do not recommend the payment  
of a final dividend for 2016 (2015: final dividend  
of £nil).

Conflicts of interest
The Companies Act 2006 sets out Directors’ 
general duties which require that a Director must 
avoid a situation where he has, or could have, 
a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or 
possibly may conflict, with the Company’s 
interests. This requirement is very broad and 
could apply, for example, if a Director becomes 
a director of another company or a trustee of 
another organisation. The Companies Act 2006 
allows directors of public companies to authorise 
conflicts and potential conflicts, if appropriate, 
where the Articles of Association contain a 
provision to this effect. The Companies Act 2006 
also permits the Articles of Association to contain 
other provisions for dealing with Directors’ 
conflicts of interest to avoid a breach of duty. 
The Company’s Articles of Association (the 
‘Articles’) provide the Directors with the ability 
to authorise such conflicts and include other 
provisions to allow conflicts of interest to be dealt 
with. The Company has implemented various 
safeguards which apply when the Directors 
decide whether to authorise a conflict or potential 
conflict. Firstly, only the Directors who have no 
interest in the matter being considered will be 
able to take the relevant decision and, secondly, 
in taking the decision, the Directors must act in 
a way which they consider, in good faith, will be 
most likely to promote the Company’s success. 
The Directors may also impose conditions when 
authorising conflicts of interest.

Appointment and re-election of Directors
In accordance with the Articles and in 
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code dated September 2014 (the ‘Code’), 
Scott Longhurst and Malcolm Fallen will retire 
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for 
re-election at the Annual General Meeting. 
The terms of appointment of Scott Longhurst 
and Malcolm Fallen and their remuneration are 
described in the Directors’ remuneration report 
on pages 32 to 38 and their biographies appear 
on page 19.
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Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance 
and indemnities
The Company has purchased and throughout 
the year maintained appropriate insurance cover 
in respect of Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities. 
In accordance with the Articles, the Code and 
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the 
Company has maintained qualifying third party 
indemnity arrangements for the benefit of the 
Directors throughout the year.

Information for shareholders
(i) Articles of Association
The business of the Company is managed  
by the Board, which may exercise all the powers 
of the Company, including the power to issue  
or buy back shares, subject to the provisions  
of the Articles, relevant statutory law and any 
direction which may be given by the Company 
in a general meeting by special resolution.

A summary of the rights, restrictions and 
obligations attaching to the shares in the 
Company is set out below. Full details are 
contained in the Articles, a copy of which can 
be found at www.candoverinvestments.com. 
The Articles may only be changed by a 
special resolution passed by the members 
of the Company. 
 
(ii) Share capital
The Company’s share capital consists of a single 
class of ordinary shares with a nominal value of 
25p each (the ‘Shares’), all of which are fully paid. 
As at 4th April 2017, the issued share capital 
of the Company comprised 21,856,615 Shares, 
of which 78,035 Shares are held in treasury 
by the Company. Note 16 to the Accounts, 
on page 69, sets out the details of the Company’s 
capital structure. 

(iii) Major interests in Shares
As at 28th March 2017, the Company had 
been notified, pursuant to the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules of the Financial Services 
Authority, of certain significant holdings in the 
Company’s share capital. Details of members 
with interests of 3% or more of the Company’s 
Shares are set out in Note 16 to the Accounts 
on page 69.

(iv) Rights attaching to Shares
The rights attaching to the Company’s Shares 
are set out in the Articles. All Shares in issue 
(excluding those held by the Company in 
treasury) carry equal rights.

(v) Dividends
By passing an ordinary resolution, members may 
declare final dividends although the amount of 
a dividend cannot exceed that recommended 
by the Board. All Shares, excluding Shares held 
by the Company in treasury, carry equal rights in 
respect of declared dividends. The Board may pay 
interim dividends provided that, in the opinion of 
the Board, the financial position of the Company 
justifies such payment. If authorised by an ordinary 
resolution of the members, the Board may offer 
any member the right to elect to receive new 
Shares in the Company, which will be credited 
as fully paid, instead of their cash dividend. Any 
dividend that has not been claimed for 12 years 
or more after becoming due for payment will be 
forfeited and will revert to the Company.

(vi) Voting rights
Except as described below, there are no 
restrictions on the voting rights attaching to 
the Company’s Shares. There are no special 
control rights in relation to the Shares and 
the Company is not aware of any agreements 
between members that may result in restrictions 
in voting rights.

Subject to the Company’s Articles and to law, 
votes are exercisable at a general meeting of the 
Company at which the relevant resolutions are 
being heard. Votes may be exercised in person, 
by proxy, or, in the case of corporate members, 
by corporate representative, but in all cases 
the member must be entered on the register 
of members of the Company in respect of the 
relevant Shares at such time (not being earlier 
than 48 hours before the meeting) as may be 
specified by the Company in the notice of 
general meeting.

For each resolution proposed every member 
present, or otherwise duly represented, has 
one vote on a show of hands and on a poll has 
one vote for each Share held. In the case of joint 
holders only the vote of the most senior holder 
who votes, whether in person or by proxy, 
can be accepted. For this purpose, seniority is 
determined by the order in which the names 
stand in the register of members.
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(vii) Restrictions on voting
Unless the Board of Directors otherwise 
determines, no member shall be entitled to 
attend or vote either personally or by proxy at 
a general meeting in respect of a Share if any 
call or other sum presently payable by him to 
the Company in respect of such Share remains 
unpaid. In addition, no member shall be entitled 
to attend or vote, either in person or by proxy, 
in respect of Shares if he has failed to provide, 
within 14 days of delivery of a notice by the 
Company, information concerning interests 
in the Shares (‘Restricted Shares’).

(viii) Appointment of proxies
Under the Articles, members are entitled to 
appoint a proxy, who need not be a member 
of the Company, to exercise all or any of their 
rights to attend, speak and vote on their behalf 
at a general meeting. A member may appoint 
more than one proxy, provided each proxy is 
appointed to exercise rights attached to different 
Shares. If votes are to be exercised by proxy, 
the Articles provide that proxy forms must be 
received not less than 48 hours before the 
time appointed for the holding of the meeting. 
A notice of general meeting and accompanying 
proxy form explain the full method for voting 
by proxy.

(ix) Transfers of Shares
A member does not need to obtain the approval 
of the Company or other members in order 
for a transfer of Shares, whether in certificated 
or uncertificated form, to take place. Transfers 
of Shares in uncertificated form must be carried 
out using CREST.

The Board may refuse to register a transfer 
of Shares:

 – if the Shares are not fully paid, provided 
that this discretion may not be exercised in 
a way which the Financial Conduct Authority 
or the London Stock Exchange regards 
as preventing dealings in the Shares from 
taking place on an open and proper basis;

 – if the transfer is in favour of more than four 
transferees jointly, whether the Shares are 
fully paid or not;

 – in relation to Shares in certificated form, 
where the provisions of Article 42 of the 
Company’s Articles are not met;

 – in relation to Shares in uncertificated form, 
in accordance with the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations; and

 – if the Shares are Restricted Shares (as defined 
above in the section entitled ‘Restrictions on 
voting’) and represent at least 0.25% in nominal 
value of the issued Shares of the same class, 
as more fully described in the Articles.

There are no other restrictions on the transfer 
of Shares, other than restrictions imposed from 
time to time by laws and regulations (for example, 
insider trading laws) or pursuant to the Listing 
Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority 
(whereby all employees of the Company require 
the approval of the Company to deal in Shares).

(x) Creditor payment policy
Post the sale of CPL, trade creditor days are not 
an appropriate measure for the Company as it 
has no trade creditors.

(xi) Agreements which are affected by a change 
of control of the Company
As at 4th April 2017, the Company was party 
to the following agreement which takes effect 
after, or terminates, or could be terminated on 
a change of control of the Company following 
a takeover bid or otherwise:

The loan facility agreement entered into on 
13th July 2015 with 17Capital LLP has certain 
restrictions should there be a change of control 
of Candover leading to repayment of all 
amounts due. 
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As set out in the Directors’ remuneration report 
on pages 32 to 38, there are no agreements 
between the Company and its Directors or 
employees providing for compensation for loss 
of office or employment that occurs because of 
a takeover bid or subsequent change of control 
of the Company.

Auditors
Grant Thornton UK LLP have expressed 
willingness to continue in office. In accordance 
with Section 489(4) of the Companies Act 2006, 
a resolution to reappoint Grant Thornton UK LLP 
will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting 
to be held on 23rd May 2017.

Corporate governance
A summary of the Company’s approach  
to corporate governance, approved by the 
Directors, can be found on pages 24 to 31. 
The Company’s Corporate governance  
report should be treated as part of the  
Report of the Directors.

Greenhouse gas emissions
The Group has no greenhouse gas emissions  
to report from its operations, nor does it have 
responsibility for any other emissions producing 
sources as defined under the Companies Act 
2006 (Strategic Report & Directors’ Report) 
Regulations 2013, including those within the 
Company’s underlying portfolio. Candover does 
not directly manage its portfolio companies, and 
the Company’s status as a co-investor alongside  
the Funds managed by Arle means the Financial, 
Operational and Equity Share Control that require 
reporting of greenhouse gas emissions is limited.

Political and charitable donations
During the year, the Company made no political 
or charitable donations (2015: £nil).

Going concern
Under the Code and applicable regulations and 
guidance, including the FRC’s ‘Going Concern 
and Liquidity Risk: Guidance for Directors of 
UK Companies 2009’, the Directors are required 
to satisfy themselves that it is reasonable to 
presume that the Company is a going concern.

Candover’s business activities, together with 
the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position, are set out in the 
CEO’s report, Strategic report and the Manager’s 
portfolio review on pages 2 to 17. The financial 
position of Candover, its cash flows, liquidity 
position and borrowing facilities are described 
in the Financial review on pages 10 and 11. 
In addition, the Risk review (included within the 
Strategic report on pages 5 to 7) and Note 21 
to the Financial statements on pages 71 to 83, 
include Candover’s financial risk management 
objectives, its capital management policies and 
procedures, details of its financial instruments 
and its exposures to market risk, currency risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and 
other pricing risk.

The Company successfully refinanced its 2013 
US private placement loan notes in August 2015 
with a new loan facility with 17Capital LLP. The 
facility is of a minimum duration of ten years. 

The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that Candover and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue as a going concern for 
the foreseeable future. For these reasons, 
they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the Report and accounts.

On behalf of the Board

Malcolm Fallen
Chief Executive Officer

34 Lime Street 
London EC3M 7AT
4th April 2017
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The UK Corporate Governance Code dated 
September 2014 (the ‘Code’) sets out guidance 
in the form of principles and provisions on how 
companies should be directed and controlled 
to follow good corporate governance practice. 
The Financial Conduct Authority requires all 
companies listed in the UK with a Premium 
Listing of equity shares (regardless of whether 
they are incorporated in the UK or elsewhere) 
to disclose in relation to the Code how they 
have applied its principles and whether they 
have complied with its provisions throughout the 
accounting year. In the event that the provisions 
have not been complied with, the Company 
must provide an explanation. The Code was 
revised and re-published in September 2014 
for accounting periods commencing on or after 
1st October 2014 and applicable for the 
Company from 1st January 2015.

The Board is of the view that the Company has 
complied with the provisions set out in the Code 
or, where relevant, explained why it has not. This 
report explains how the Company has applied 
the principles contained in the Code during 2016. 
Further information on the Code can be obtained 
at www.frc.org.uk.

The Company’s overall approach to 
corporate governance
The Company believes that strong corporate 
governance is essential for delivering sustainable 
value, enhancing a culture of business integrity 
and maintaining confidence in the Company. 
Summarised below are the key issues affecting 
our governance responsibilities and how we 
address them.

However, there are certain provisions that the 
Board has deemed inefficient or inappropriate 
to follow in the light of the Company’s strategy to 
achieve an orderly realisation of its investments. 
These are explained below:

 – Gender diversity policy on the Board:  
The Board favours diversity and welcomes 
appointments that contribute towards a 
breadth of skills, experience and diversity, 
and, through the Nominations Committee, 
selects Directors on merit with relevant and 
complementary skills to help the Company 
maximise value for shareholders. Given the 
small size of the Company and its divestment 

policy, the Board does not intend to develop 
a specific diversity policy.

 – Third party Board performance evaluation: 
The Board undertakes a comprehensive 
Board, Chairman and Director Evaluation 
policy on a regular basis. Given the current 
size of the Board and Committees, and 
coupled with the key aim of maximising 
shareholder value, the Board does not believe 
the use of an external third party evaluator 
would be efficient and effective.

 – Audit tender: The Board considered the need 
to put the audit out to tender but concluded 
retention of the longstanding knowledge that 
the incumbent auditors have of Candover, 
to be a benefit during the wind-down of the 
portfolio. Instead, the auditors were requested 
to revise the scope of the audit to reflect the 
current business and financial risks.

A. Leadership and Board responsibilities
The Chairman is responsible for the leadership 
of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness on 
all aspects of its role. The Board of Directors is 
responsible to shareholders for ensuring that the 
Company is appropriately managed; that it meets 
its objectives; and is collectively responsible 
for the long-term success of the Company. 
The Board meets regularly to determine the 
Company’s strategic direction, review its financial 
performance and to oversee the performance of 
the Company’s investment manager. All Directors 
have allocated sufficient time to discharge their 
responsibilities to the Company.

The Board has approved terms of reference that 
address a wide range of corporate governance 
matters. The terms of reference contain a formal 
schedule of matters reserved to the Board of 
Directors and its duly authorised Committees 
for decision.

These include:

 – approval of the Company’s overall strategy 
and business plans;

 – approval of the Company’s half-yearly and 
annual Financial statements and changes in 
the Group’s accounting policies or practices;

 – valuation of the Company’s investments;
 – changes relating to the capital structure of 

the Company;
 – dividend policy;
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 – investments and divestments in the ordinary 
course of business above certain limits, 
set by the Board from time to time;

 – appointments to the Board; and
 – constitution of Board Committees.

Matters delegated by the Board to management 
include implementation of the Board approved 
strategy, day-to-day management of the 
business and the formulation and execution 
of risk management policies and practices. 
The schedule of matters reserved to the Board 
is available on the Company’s website.

The Board met five times during 2016 (2015: 
seven times). Attendance at Board and 
Committee meetings is set out in Table 1.

The principal matters considered by the Board 
during 2016 (in addition to matters formally 
reserved to the Board) included:

 – the strategic options facing the Company  
and in particular consideration of options 
which the Company may have as it concludes 
the current phase of its realisation process;

 – the realisation of investments to meet the 
investment objective;

 – regular reports from the Chief Executive Officer; 
 – regular reports from the investment manager 

on the performance of the portfolio;
 – the recommendations of the Audit, Risk and 

Valuation Committee;
 – consideration and review of the Company’s 

key risks;
 – the Company’s relationship with its 

investment manager;
 – financial reports on the performance and 

outlook for the Company including compliance 
with covenants and regulations; and

 – bespoke external adviser reports.

The Company holds appropriate Directors’  
and Officers’ Liability insurance cover in respect 
of any legal action taken against the Board.

The division of responsibilities between the 
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive 
Officer is clearly defined and has been approved 
by the Board. 

The Chairman’s priority is the leadership of the 
Board. Given the non-executive nature of the 
role, he has no involvement in the day-to-day 
activities of the Company. 

The Chief Executive Officer’s priority  
is the management of the Company. He is 
accountable to the Board for reviewing and 
considering strategic options for the Company, 
for managing the financial and operational 
performance of the Company and assisting  
the Board in executing the Company’s strategy.  
He is, in particular, responsible for the day-to-day 
management of the Company’s relationship  
with its investment manager. Together with  
the Chairman, he provides leadership of the 
Company which includes representing the  
Group to all stakeholders.

Richard Stone, appointed Chairman on  
19th April 2011, leads the Board in all areas 
including the determination of strategy and  
is responsible for organising the business  
of the Board, setting its agenda and ensuring  
the effectiveness of the overall Board and  
the individual Directors. He is also responsible  
for ensuring a culture of openness and debate  
at Board level. 

Table 1

Board

Audit,
Risk and

Valuation
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nominations
Committee

Number of meetings in the year 5 6 3 3
Richard Stone 5 5 3 3
Malcolm Fallen 5 N/A N/A N/A
Jan Oosterveld 5 6 3 3
Scott Longhurst 5 6 3 3
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Board appointment process
The procedure for the appointment of new 
Directors to the Board is carried out by the 
Nominations Committee, whose purpose 
is to review the Board’s composition and follow 
a thorough process prior to proposing new, 
or renewal of current, appointments to the 
Board for consideration. During the year under 
review, the Nominations Committee was chaired  
by Jan Oosterveld. The other members are 
Richard Stone and Scott Longhurst.

All the current members of the Committee are 
independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board 
is satisfied that the members of the Committee 
and the Committee Chairman have recent and 
relevant experience.

The Committee met on three occasions in 
2016 (2015: three meetings) and the members’ 
attendance record is set out in the report on 
page 25. The Company Secretary acts as the 
secretary to the Committee and meetings are 
also attended by the Chief Executive Officer.

Structure, size, composition, experience and 
diversity and range of skills available on the 
Board is kept under review by the Committee. 
The Committee favours diversity and welcomes 
appointments that contribute towards a breadth 
of skills, experience and diversity; however, 
its primary objective is to select Directors on 
merit with relevant and complementary skills 
to help the Company achieve its main target of 
maximising value for shareholders. Given the 
small size of the Company and its divestment 
policy, the Committee is therefore unwilling 
to commit to numerical diversity targets against 
which progress can be reported. The terms of 
reference of the Committee are available on the 
Company’s website.

Commitment
When considering the Chairman’s appointment, 
the Nominations Committee prepares a job 
specification, including an assessment of 
the time commitment expected, and this is 
contained within his appointment letter. 
Significant commitments are disclosed to the 
Board before appointment, and any changes 
reported as they arise. These are then identified 
within his biography in the Annual Report, 
and their impact explained.

Pursuant to the Code, Jan Oosterveld assumed 
the position of Senior Independent Director 
(‘SID’) with effect from 1st January 2015.

The main roles which the SID fulfils are:

 – being available to shareholders should they 
have concerns that they have been unable  
to resolve through normal channels or when 
such channels would be inappropriate; 

 – providing a sounding board for the Chairman 
and serving as an intermediary for the other 
Non-Executive Directors; and

 – leading the Board’s discussion on the 
Chairman’s performance and the appointment 
of a new Chairman, when appropriate.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors meet 
as required without the executives present to 
consider their approach/response to strategic 
proposals. Should they have concerns about the 
running of the Company or a proposed action, 
which cannot be resolved with the executives, 
these are recorded in the meeting minutes. In 
addition, on resignation, if Non-Executive Directors 
should have any such concerns, they are offered 
the opportunity to provide a written statement to 
the Chairman for circulation to the Board.

B. Effectiveness
Directors are appointed to the Board only after 
a detailed process (see below) during which the 
skills and experience adjudged necessary for 
the position are considered against potential 
appointees.

It is the Board’s view that each Director is 
independent in character and judgement, 
and that no Director has any relationships that 
could materially interfere with his judgement. 
None of the Directors have been interested in any 
contract or arrangement subsisting during or at 
the end of the financial period that was significant 
in relation to the business of the Company. All of 
the Non-Executive Directors were considered 
by the Board to be independent for the purposes 
of the Code in the year to 31st December 2016. 

The Board currently comprises a Non-Executive 
Chairman, a part-time Chief Executive Officer 
and two Non-Executive Directors.
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The letters of appointment of the Non-Executive 
Directors are available for inspection both 
prior to, and at, the Annual General Meeting. 
These set out the expected time commitment 
of the role and the Non-Executive Directors 
undertake to commit sufficient time to it. The 
letters also provide for agreement to be sought 
before accepting new appointments. As with the 
Chairman, significant commitments are disclosed 
to the Board before appointment, any changes 
reported as they arise, identified within their 
biographies in the Annual Report, and their 
impact explained. 

Malcolm Fallen, the only Executive Director, 
is employed by the Company on a part-time 
basis. As indicated within his biography on 
page 19, he has external Non-Executive 
Directorships with two private limited companies.

Development 
The Board believes that the Company’s Directors 
should develop their skills and knowledge 
through participation in relevant training courses. 
The Chairman is responsible for agreeing and 
regularly reviewing the training and development 
needs of each Director. On appointment,  
all Non-Executive Directors have discussions 
with the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, 
following which appropriate briefings on the 
responsibilities of Directors, the Company’s 
business and the Company’s procedures are 
arranged. The Company provides opportunities 
for Non-Executive Directors to obtain a thorough 
understanding of the Company’s business 
by regularly meeting members of the senior 
management team from the investment manager.

Information and Support
The Board of Directors receives reports and 
papers in a timely manner containing clear and 
accurate information for all Board and Committee 
meetings. Additional papers are provided 
to address specific issues from time to time. 
All Directors are provided with appropriate 
information on the Company and access to 
its operations and staff.

The Board’s discussions and its approval of 
the Group’s strategic plan and annual budget 
provide the Non-Executive Directors with 
the opportunity to contribute to and validate 
the plans of the Company’s management 
and assist in the development of strategy. 

The Non-Executive Directors receive regular 
reports and information which enable them to 
scrutinise the Company’s, and its management’s, 
performance.

Directors are authorised and encouraged to 
obtain independent professional advice at 
the Company’s expense where they deem it 
necessary to discharge their responsibilities 
as Directors.

The Company Secretary
The Board of Directors has access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary, who is 
responsible for advising the Board, through the 
Chairman, on governance matters. The Articles 
and the schedule of matters reserved to the 
Board, or its duly authorised Committees, 
for decision provide that the appointment and 
removal of the Company Secretary is a matter 
for the full Board. 

Evaluation
During 2016, the Board evaluated the 
performance of the Board, its Committees and 
the individual Directors in compliance with the 
Code. The Chairman led the process using a 
pre-determined template and met with each 
of the Directors to ascertain their views on the 
functioning of the Board and the various Board 
Committees. In addition, the Chairman reviewed 
the performance, commitment and contribution 
of each Director.

Following discussions with the other Directors, 
the Senior Independent Director reviewed the 
performance of the Chairman. An externally 
facilitated evaluation of the Board is not required 
by the Code. In addition, the Board considers 
that there is no need to appoint an independent 
third party to manage the evaluation exercise and 
that the current process is appropriate.

Re-election and Tenure
The Board currently comprises the Chairman, 
two Non-Executive Directors and one Executive 
Director. Biographical details of all the Directors 
are set out on page 19.

Each Director is required to be elected by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting 
following his appointment by the Board, and to 
be re-elected once every three years thereafter. 
Any Director who has served on the Board for 
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more than nine years is required to submit himself 
for re-election annually. In addition to fulfilling their 
legal responsibilities, the Directors are expected 
to bring an independent judgement to bear on 
issues of strategy, performance, resources and 
standards of conduct and to help the Chairman 
and the Chief Executive Officer provide the 
Company with effective leadership.

Details of the Directors’ employment contracts 
and letters of appointment are set out in the 
Directors’ remuneration report on pages 32 to 38.

C. Accountability
Financial and business reporting
The Directors are required to explain their 
responsibility for the Financial statements and 
this statement is given on page 43. The auditors 
review the Company’s compliance with the 
provisions of the Code, the Listing Rules and 
other rules of the Financial Conduct Authority. 
They are also required to report on their audit 
of the Financial statements. Their report is on 
pages 44 to 48.

The Board seeks to provide investors with a 
balanced and clear view of the Company’s 
position and its future prospects and business 
model. Further information is given in the 
Chairman’s letter, the CEO’s report and the 
Manager’s portfolio review on pages 1 to 17.

Risk management and internal control
The Board is required annually to review the 
effectiveness of the Company’s key internal 
controls including its financial, operational and 
compliance controls and risk management. 
The controls are designed to ensure that the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives is 
managed rather than eliminated, and are intended 
to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through regular meetings and meetings of 
its various Committees, the Board seeks to 
maintain full and effective control over all 
strategic, financial, regulatory and operational 
issues. The Board maintains an organisational 
and committee structure with clearly defined 
lines of responsibility and delegation 
of authorities.

As part of the compilation of the risk register for 
the Company, appropriate consideration has 

been given to the relevant control processes and 
that risk is considered, assessed and managed 
as an integral part of the business.

The Company’s system of internal control 
includes inter alia the overall control exercise, 
procedures for the identification and evaluation of 
business risk, the control procedures themselves 
and the review of these internal controls by the 
Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee on behalf 
of the Board. Each of these elements that make 
up the Company’s system of internal control is 
explained in further detail as follows:

(i) Control environment
The Company is ultimately dependent upon the 
quality and integrity of the staff and management 
of both its investment manager (Arle) and fund 
administration services provider (Ipes (UK) 
Limited). In each case qualified and able 
individuals have been selected at all levels. 
The staff of both the investment manager and 
Ipes (UK) Limited are aware of the internal 
controls relevant to their activities and are also 
collectively accountable for the operation of 
those controls. Appropriate segregation and 
delegation of duties is in place.

On behalf of the Board, the Company’s 
management carries out a review of the 
Company’s financial controls. The auditors of the 
managed funds, KPMG LLP, and the auditors of 
the Company, Grant Thornton UK LLP, also carry 
out an external review of the financial controls 
of those funds and the Company (respectively), 
separate from management’s review, to the 
extent necessary to give their audit opinions.

In its role as a third party fund administration 
services provider, the Ipes Group (of which 
Ipes (UK) Limited is a part) produces an annual 
AAF 01/06 Assurance Report on the internal 
control procedures in place within the Group. 
This is reviewed by the Board and the 
Company’s auditors.

(ii) Identification and evaluation of business risks
The key business risk at Candover remains the 
performance of the Company’s investments. 
This is managed by the investment manager, 
who undertakes regular analysis and reporting 
of business risks in relation to each portfolio 
company and the taking of appropriate action 
to protect the investments.
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Whilst there remain a range of operational risks 
to the Company’s activities, the investment risk  
is paramount.

(iii) Key procedures
In addition to the above, the Board’s key 
procedures involve a comprehensive system for 
reporting financial results to the Board regularly; 
a review of controls which is carried out on behalf 
of the Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee 
annually and by the Company’s external auditors 
to the extent necessary for expressing their audit 
opinion; and a twice-yearly review of investment 
valuations by the Board, including reports on the 
underlying investment performance.

Although no system of internal control can 
provide absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, the Company’s system 
is designed to assist the Directors in obtaining 
reasonable assurance that problems are 
identified on a timely basis and dealt with 
appropriately. The Company, given its size, 
does not have an internal audit function.

It is the view of the Board that the controls in 
relation to the Company’s operating, accounting, 
compliance and IT risks performed robustly 
throughout the year. In addition, all staff have 
been in full compliance with the Company’s 
policies and external regulations, including:

 – personal account dealing;
 – money laundering;
 – treatment and handling of 

confidential information;
 – Listing Rules;
 – applicable Financial Conduct Authority 

regulations;
 – compliance policies;
 – conflicts of interest; and
 – health and safety.

There were no protected disclosures made 
pursuant to the Company’s whistleblowing policy 
during the year to 31st December 2016.

In summary, the Board considers that the 
Company’s existing internal controls, coupled 
with the analysis of risks inherent in the business 
models of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
continue to provide appropriate tools for the 
Company to monitor, evaluate and mitigate its 
operating risks.

Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee 
and auditors: 
The purpose of the Audit, Risk and Valuation 
Committee is to assist the Board in discharging 
its responsibilities for the integrity of the 
Company’s Financial statements and in 
assessing the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls and the objectivity of external 
auditors. Further details of the Committee’s 
responsibilities are given in the Report of the 
Audit Committee on pages 39 to 42.

The Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee is 
chaired by Scott Longhurst and comprises 
Richard Stone and Jan Oosterveld. All the 
members of the Committee are independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The Board is satisfied 
that members of the Committee and the 
Committee Chairman, Scott Longhurst, 
have recent and relevant financial experience.

The Committee met on six occasions in 2016 
(2015: six meetings) and the members’ 
attendance record is set out in the report on 
page 25. The Company Secretary acts as the 
secretary to the Committee and meetings are 
also attended by the Chief Executive Officer.

During the year, the Committee reviewed, 
in conjunction with the external auditors, 
the Company’s accounting disclosures 
comprised in the half-yearly and annual Financial 
statements of the Company, the scope of the 
annual audit plan and the external audit findings. 
The Committee exercised its judgement to 
ensure that this information was presented 
fairly and objectively and that appropriate 
accounting policies were applied and observed. 
The Committee also reviewed the financial and 
accounting aspects of the disposals announced 
in the year, the risk register of the Company, and 
examined the Company’s compliance with its 
regulatory requirements, third party liabilities and 
off balance sheet liabilities, receiving reports on 
compliance with the terms of its loan notes.

The Committee reviewed the valuation of the 
Company’s investment assets, and oversaw the 
Company’s relations with the external auditors, 
including assessing auditor performance, 
independence and objectivity, recommending 
the auditor’s reappointment and approving the 
auditor’s fees.
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The terms of reference of the Committee are 
available on the Company’s website.

Auditor’s independence and objectivity
Subject to annual appointment by shareholders, 
auditor performance is monitored on an ongoing 
basis and formally reviewed every five years; 
the last formal review being held during the year 
to 31st December 2014. Following this review the 
Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee concluded 
that Grant Thornton UK LLP’s appointment as 
the Company’s auditor should be continued. 

The Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee 
recognises the importance of ensuring the 
independence and objectivity of the Company’s 
auditor. It reviews the nature and extent of the 
services provided by them, the level of their fees 
and the element comprising non-audit fees.

The Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee 
Chairman is notified of all assignments allocated 
to Grant Thornton UK LLP over a set threshold. 
Safeguards have been put in place to reduce the 
likelihood of compromising auditor independence, 
including the following principles which are applied 
in respect of services provided by the auditor and 
other accounting firms, and monitored by the 
Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee:

 – services required to be undertaken by the 
auditor, which include regulatory returns, 
formalities relating to borrowings, 
shareholders and other auditors; 

 – services which it is most efficient for the 
auditor to provide; and 

 – services that could be provided by a number 
of firms, including general consultancy work. 
All significant consultancy projects are 
normally put out to tender, and work would 
be allocated to the auditor provided it did not 
present a potential threat to the independence 
of the audit team. Included in this category is 
due diligence work relating to the investment 
process. If this service were to be provided 
by Grant Thornton UK LLP, the specific team 
engaged would be independent of the 
audit team.

The Company has agreed to pay £70,000 to 
Grant Thornton UK LLP for audit services 
during the year to 31st December 2016, relating 
to the statutory audit of the Company’s Financial 
statements and the audit of the Company’s 
subsidiaries and associates pursuant to 
legislation (2015: £87,500). The fees are explained 
in further detail in Note 2 to the accounts on 
page 60.

D. Directors’ remuneration
The Directors’ remuneration report on pages 
32 to 38 summarises the remuneration policy 
and strategy. Given the strategy of the Company 
is to achieve an orderly realisation of its assets 
and return value to shareholders, traditional 
remuneration structures are no longer relevant. 
Our approach is to ensure we retain access to 
the right calibre of skills and sufficient corporate 
knowledge to implement our plan. The report 
details the Committee’s activities over the 
financial year and contains details of each 
Director’s emoluments.

The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is 
to assist the Board in determining Directors’ 
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by 
Jan Oosterveld and includes Richard Stone and 
Scott Longhurst. All the current members of 
the Committee are independent Non-Executive 
Directors. The Board is satisfied that members 
of the Committee and the Committee Chairman, 
Jan Oosterveld, have recent and relevant 
experience and the Committee takes 
independent advice as required.

The Committee met on three occasions in 2016 
(2015: three meetings) and the members’ 
attendance record is set out in the report on 
page 25. The Company Secretary acts as the 
secretary to the Committee and meetings are 
also attended by the Chief Executive Officer, 
other than when the Committee considers 
matters relating to the Chief Executive Officer’s 
remuneration.

The procedure for determining Directors’ 
remuneration is stated in the Committee’s terms 
of reference which are available on the 
Company’s website.
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E. Relations with shareholders
The Board of Directors recognises the importance 
of maintaining a meaningful relationship with 
the Company’s shareholders. The Directors 
consider it important to understand the views of 
shareholders and any issues which are of concern 
to them. The Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer meet with the Company’s principal 
institutional shareholders to discuss relevant 
issues as they arise and ensure that shareholders 
are apprised of the Company’s strategy and 
corporate governance within the constraints of 
information that has been made public.

The Board of Directors receives reports from 
the Company’s brokers on shareholder issues. 
Non-Executive Directors are invited to attend 
the Company’s presentations to analysts, and are 
offered the opportunity to meet shareholders.

The Senior Independent Director is available 
to be contacted by shareholders in situations 
where contact through the Chairman is felt to 
be inappropriate.

The Company has taken full advantage of the 
relevant provisions of the Companies Act 2006 
allowing communications to be made 
electronically to shareholders where they have 
not requested hard copy information. Therefore, 
the Company’s website is the primary method 
for sharing information with investors.

The Report and accounts of the Company, 
together with its interim reports, interim 
management statements and all other public 
announcements, are designed to present a 
balanced and understandable summary of the 
Company’s activities and are made available 
on the Company’s website.

The Company’s share capital and information for 
shareholders is described in the Report of the 
Directors on pages 20 to 23.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that 
all Directors are made aware of the issues and 
concerns of major shareholders.

Constructive use of Annual General Meeting 
(‘AGM’)
The Company uses the AGM as an opportunity 
to communicate with its shareholders. The 
Company complies with the Code as it relates 
to voting, the separation of resolutions and 
the attendance of Committee Chairmen. 
The Chairmen of the Audit, Risk and Valuation, 
Nominations and Remuneration Committees 
are available to answer shareholders’ questions 
and shareholders are invited to meet the 
Directors after the conclusion of the formal 
business of the meeting. In accordance with the 
requirements of the Code, the results of proxy 
voting by shareholders, including votes withheld, 
are made available to shareholders on request 
and are placed on the Company’s website 
following the AGM.

It is the intention of the Board that the Annual 
Report and accounts and Notice of the AGM 
be issued to shareholders so as to provide 
at least 20 working days’ notice of the AGM. 
Shareholders wishing to lodge questions in 
advance of the AGM, or to contact the Board 
at any other time, are invited to do so by writing 
to the Company Secretary at the registered 
address given on page 85.

On behalf of the Board

Malcolm Fallen
Chief Executive Officer

34 Lime Street 
London EC3M 7AT 
4th April 2017
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Statement by the Chairman
The Directors’ remuneration report sets out:
 
(i)  the activities of the Remuneration Committee 

for the year ended 31st December 2016; 
(ii) the Company’s remuneration policy; and 
(iii) the remuneration of its Executive and 

Non-Executive Directors.

It has been prepared on behalf of the Board 
in accordance with the reforms to Directors’ 
Remuneration Reporting, as outlined in the 
Large and Medium-sized Companies and 
Groups (Accounts and Report) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2013, as well as the Companies Act 
2006, and the UK Corporate Governance Code 
dated September 2014 (the ‘Code’). 

The audited sections of the Directors’ 
remuneration report have been clearly marked.

Composition and operation of the 
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for setting a remuneration policy that reflects 
the Company’s strategic goals and incentivises 
executives who have a significant role in ensuring 
that the Company meets its strategic objectives.

During the year under review, the members of the 
Remuneration Committee were Jan Oosterveld 
(Chairman), Scott Longhurst and Richard Stone, 
all of whom were Non-Executive Directors 
and independent of the investment manager. 
The full Remuneration Committee, which meets 
as often as necessary to discharge its duties, 
met on three occasions in 2016 (2015: three 
times). Attendance at Committee meetings is 
set out in the Corporate governance section on 
page 25. Terms of reference of the Committee 
are available on the Company’s website.

No member of the Remuneration Committee 
has any personal financial interests or conflicts 
of interest, other than as shareholders. In this 
regard, the Remuneration Committee is fully 
compliant with the Code.

Remuneration policy, activities during 
the year and professional advice
The remuneration policy contained in the 
remuneration report, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports)  (Amendment) Regulations 2013, 
was approved by shareholders at the AGM in 
2015. The Company is next expected to submit 
its policy on the remuneration of its Directors 
to members at the AGM in 2018. If, however, 
the Company wishes to make any amendment 
to the remuneration policy during the three-year 
period, the new policy will need to be put to 
a vote of the members at a general meeting. 

The Remuneration Committee worked to 
ensure that the Company’s remuneration policy 
reflected and supported the Company’s 
strategic goals throughout the year. As the 
Company retains the services of only one 
Executive to manage the progressive return  
of value to shareholders, the Remuneration 
Committee has considered carefully the 
structure and incentives necessary to retain  
and motivate the Executive. 
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Overview of remuneration policy

Purpose and link to strategy
Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors should 
be sufficient to attract and retain individuals of 
high calibre with suitable skills, knowledge and 
experience. Those who chair the Board, key 
Committees and act as Senior Independent 
Director should be paid higher fees than other 
Directors in recognition of their more demanding 
roles. Fees should reflect the time spent by 
Directors on the Company’s affairs and the 
responsibilities borne by the Directors. Fees 
offered to Non-Executive Directors can be seen 
on page 34.

The salary offered to Executive Directors should 
also be sufficient to attract and retain individuals 
of high calibre with suitable skills, knowledge 
and experience. The salary is intended to reflect 
the time spent by Executive Directors on the 
Company’s affairs and responsibilities borne 
by the Executive Directors. The remuneration 
offered to the Chief Executive Officer can be 
seen on page 34.

Performance measures
The performance-related elements of the 
Executive Director’s remuneration package 
were removed with effect from 1st January 2015. 
As a consequence, there are no performance 
measures linked to remuneration.

Maximum and minimum levels
Remuneration consists of a fixed fee each year 
for Non-Executive Directors, set in accordance 
with the stated policies and Articles of 
Association, and any increase must be in line 
with stated policies. The Company’s Articles of 
Association set a limit to provision of fees for 
services provided by Non-Executive Directors, 
not exceeding the aggregate annual sum of 
£500,000, or larger if determined by ordinary 
resolution; except where amounts are payable 
under other provisions of the Articles. 

Any Director who is appointed to any executive 
office or who serves on any Committee or who 
devotes special attention to the business of 
the Company, or who otherwise performs 
services which in the opinion of the Directors are 
outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a 
Director, may be paid such extra remuneration by 
way of salary, percentage of profits or otherwise 
as the Directors may determine. Currently the 
Company has only one Executive Director whose 
remuneration package is outlined below.

All reasonable travelling, hotel and other 
expenses properly incurred by the Directors in 
attending and returning from meetings or other 
business in relation to the Company are also 
reimbursed to the Directors.

Approach to recruitment remuneration
1. Remuneration of Directors should be fair  

and sufficient to enable Directors to properly 
oversee the affairs of the Company, 
reflecting both the Company’s specific 
circumstances and the time and attention 
devoted by each Director to their 
responsibilities. Executive Directors should 
be paid such extra remuneration as 
determined by the Committee if it is deemed 
that the actions of the Director are outside 
the scope of ordinary duties.

2. Total Director Remuneration is determined by 
the provisions of the Company’s Articles of 
Association and by shareholder resolution.

3. All new Directors will receive remuneration  
on the same basis as other Directors, 
dependant upon duties, responsibilities and 
role. As and when appropriate, the Company 
is committed to a timely disclosure on the 
remuneration of new Executive Directors or 
Chairman within the announcement of said 
appointment to market.
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Summary of Chief Executive Officer’s 
remuneration package
Mr Fallen’s base salary takes into account the size 
of his role, his experience and skills, his individual 
contribution and the need to retain access to his 
specific knowledge of the historic affairs of the 
Company that will be important as the Company’s 
portfolio is progressively run-off and the return of 
cash to shareholders is undertaken. 

From 1st January 2016, Mr Fallen received  
a fixed salary of £250,000 with no further benefits  
(2015: £500,000 from which he was required to 
purchase shares in the Company to the value 
of £10,000 (before deduction of taxation) monthly 
throughout 2015), with no further benefits.  
Mr Fallen’s remuneration was reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee in late 2016 and it was 
agreed that his remuneration be unchanged from 
1st January 2017 but will be reviewed throughout 
2017 on a quarterly basis. 

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
For Non-Executive Directors, the Chairman of the 
Company recommends the level of fees to be paid 
based on market information, time commitment 
required and the level of responsibility undertaken. 
The members of the Remuneration Committee, 
excluding the Chairman, recommend the 
Chairman’s fee. These recommendations are  
then put to a meeting of the Board of Directors  
for approval. All Non-Executive Directors’ fees, 
including that of the Chairman, were reduced from 
1st January 2016. Base fees are set out below.

Non-Executive Directors are not paid bonuses or 
performance fees, granted share options or invited 
to participate in long-term incentive plans.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
2016 

£ 
2015

£

Non-Executive Chairman 50,000 70,000
Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee Chairman 30,000 35,000
Remuneration and Nominations Committee Chairman 
and Senior Independent Director 27,500 35,000
Board member 25,000 30,000
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Directors’ emoluments (audited)
Total emoluments received by individual Directors during the year ended 31st December 2016 were 
as follows:

Single total figure table for 2016 and 2015

2016 
Salaries/

Directors’
fees 

£000s

Total 
emoluments2

£000s

2015 
Salaries/

Directors’
fees 

£000s

Total 
emoluments1

£000s

Executive Director
Malcolm Fallen1 250.0 250.0 500.0 500.0
Non-Executive Directors
Richard Stone 50.0 50.0 70.0 70.0
Jan Oosterveld 27.5 27.5 35.0 35.0
Scott Longhurst 30.0 30.0 35.0 35.0
Total 357.5 357.5 640.0 640.0

1 Emoluments received for acting both as Chief Executive Officer and as a Director
2 No pension contributions have been made on behalf of any Director in 2016

Total remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer
In accordance with the new regulations, the total remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer for each 
of the five financial years up to 31st December is set out in the following table:

 
2012 
£000

2013 
£000

2014 
£000

2015 
£000

2016 
£000

Total remuneration 550.2 551.7 551.5 500.0 250.0
Percentage of performance-related benefits 
as a percentage of maximum 100% 100% 100% N/A N/A

Directors’ interests in Shares (audited)
The Committee has not adopted a policy that requires Directors to own Shares in the Company, 
although all Directors are currently shareholders. No share option or other share scheme interests, 
with or without performance conditions, are awarded to the Directors (except that outlined above for 
the Chief Executive Officer relating to 2015). Save as disclosed, no Director has any notifiable interest 
in the securities of the Company or of any subsidiary of the Company. 
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The Directors’ interests in Shares are shown below:

Name

Ordinary shares  
of 25p each at  

1st January 2016
or date of

appointment

Ordinary shares
purchased/
(disposed)

Ordinary shares  
of 25p each at  

31st December 2016

Malcolm Fallen 69,065 2,558 71,623
Richard Stone 10,000 – 10,000
Jan Oosterveld 2,500 – 2,500
Scott Longhurst 1,500 – 1,500
Total 83,065 2,558 85,623

All the holdings of the Directors are beneficial.

On 4th January 2016 Mr Fallen acquired a further 2,558 Ordinary shares, representing the last 
remaining purchase required under the terms of his 2015 remuneration package.

Executive Director – external appointments
The Chief Executive Officer is employed by the Company on a part-time basis only and therefore the 
Board is content for him to accept other non-executive roles, and to retain any remuneration arising from 
such roles, provided these do not impinge on his duties for the Company. As stated in his biography 
on page 19, Malcolm Fallen was Non-Executive Chairman of Innovia Films (Holding 1) Limited up until 
28th February 2017 and is currently Non-Executive Chairman of Kentech Corporate Holdings Limited 
and Chairman of Enders Analysis Limited. He is remunerated in each case and retained remuneration 
during the financial year as follows:

Innovia Films (Holding 1) Limited £125,000
Kentech Corporate Holdings Limited US$50,000
Enders Analysis Limited £50,000

Pension costs (audited)
Malcolm Fallen was not entitled to receive any pension contributions (2015: £nil). 

Relative importance of spend on pay
As the Company is in the process of a managed wind-down of its investments, prior to returning the 
proceeds to shareholders, the Directors do not consider the comparison of the overall expenditure 
on Directors’ fees with the profit retained or, at this stage, shareholder distributions to be meaningful 
given the Company has yet to start the process of distributing cash to shareholders. 
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Comparison of Chief Executive Officer’s pay
The percentage decrease from the preceding financial year for the total remuneration of the Chief 
Executive Officer is outlined below. As the Group has only one other employee to provide comparison 
to the Chief Executive Officer, the Committee has decided not to provide the comparison of the 
percentage difference in the Chief Executive Officer’s emoluments to that employee.

Executive Director

Total 
emoluments 

2015
£000s

Total 
emoluments

2016
£000s % change

Malcolm Fallen 500.0 250.0 (50)%

Termination payments and payments to third parties
No payments were made to any Director of the Company for termination of employment or to third parties 
for the provision of Directors’ services to the Company during the year ended 31st December 2016.

Service agreements and letters of appointment
The Chief Executive Officer, as an Executive Director, has a rolling service agreement with no fixed 
expiry date. This contract may be terminated by either the Company or the Chief Executive Officer on 
12 months’ notice. There are no provisions for the Chief Executive Officer to receive compensation 
upon early termination.

Each Non-Executive Director has a letter of appointment with the Company, setting out his duties 
and the time commitment expected from him. Non-Executive Directors’ appointments are reviewed 
annually and are subject to the re-election requirements of the Company’s Articles. There are no 
provisions for Directors to receive compensation upon early termination.

Date of contract Notice period Unexpired term

Executive Director
Malcolm Fallen 9th September 

2009
Terminable on 12 months’ 

notice by either party
No fixed  

expiry date
Non-Executive Directors
Richard Stone 19th April  

2011
Terminable on 3 months’ 

notice by either party
Appointment reviewed 
annually in December

Jan Oosterveld 5th November  
2008

Terminable at the  
will of the parties

Appointment reviewed 
annually in December

Scott Longhurst 18th May  
2011

Terminable at the  
will of the parties

Appointment reviewed 
annually in December

Group employee pay and performance conditions
As the Group has only one other employee to provide comparison to the Chief Executive Officer,  
the Committee has decided not to disclose pay and performance conditions, perceiving the disparity 
between employee roles to be an inappropriate comparison and unnecessary in shaping Director 
remuneration policy. 
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Comparative performance
Set out below is a graph showing the Company’s total shareholder return performance assuming an 
original investment in the Company on 31st December 2011 of £100 and with dividends reinvested 
for the five years to 31st December 2016. This is compared against the return performance achieved 
by the FTSE All-Share Index.
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Statement of Consideration of Shareholder Voting
At the AGM held on 12th May 2016, shareholders approved the Directors’ remuneration report in 
respect of the year ended 31st December 2015, with the following votes cast:

Votes For: 76.63% Votes Against: 23.37% Votes Withheld: 0.00%

As stated above, the Company last submitted its policy on the remuneration of its Directors to the 
AGM in 2015 and is next expected to do so at the AGM in 2018. 

While the resolution to approve the Directors’ remuneration report for the year ended 31st December 
2015 was passed, the Directors noted the number of votes against the resolution. As such, the Board 
has agreed the Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration, as well as other Directors will be kept under 
continual review as the process of a managed wind-down of the Company’s investments continues. 

On behalf of the Board

Jan Oosterveld
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
4th April 2017
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Report of the Audit Committee
As Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Valuation 
Committee, I am pleased to present the 
Committee’s report to shareholders on how the 
Committee has conducted its responsibilities, 
including evaluation of the effectiveness of 
the external audit process and other issues 
that have been addressed for the year ended 
31st December 2016.

Role and responsibilities
The primary role and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee are outlined in the Committee’s 
Terms of Reference, available on the Company’s 
website, including:

 – monitoring the integrity of the Financial 
statements of the Company and any formal 
announcement relating to the Company’s 
financial performance, and reviewing 
significant financial reporting judgements 
contained within said statements and 
announcements;

 – reviewing the Company’s internal financial 
controls, and the Company’s internal control 
and risk management systems;

 – monitoring the need for an internal audit 
function annually;

 – monitoring and reviewing the independence, 
objectivity and effectiveness of the external 
auditor, taking into consideration relevant 
regulatory and professional requirements;

 – making recommendations to the Board in 
relation to the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of the external auditor and 
approving their remuneration and terms of 
engagement, which in turn can be placed 
to the shareholders for their approval at 
the AGM;

 – development and implementation of the 
Company’s policy on the provision of  
non-audit services by the external auditor, 
as appropriate; 

 – reviewing the arrangements in place to enable 
Directors and staff of service providers to, 
in confidence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of financial reporting 
or other matters insofar as they may affect 
the Company;

 – providing advice to the Board on whether the 
annual financial statements, taken as a whole, 
are fair, balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Company’s 

performance, business model and strategy; 
and

 – reporting to the Board on how the Committee 
discharged all relevant responsibilities, 
undertaken by myself at each Board meeting.

The Committee met six times during the year under 
review (2015: six times); individual attendance of 
Directors is outlined on page 25. The main matters 
discussed at those meetings were:

 – review and approval of the annual audit plan  
of the external auditor;

 – discussion, review and approval of the fee for 
the external audit;

 – detailed review of the Annual and half-yearly 
report and accounts, with particular focus on 
the valuation of the Company’s investments, 
and recommendation for approval by the Board;

 – discussion of reports from the external auditor 
following their audit;

 – assessment of the effectiveness of the external 
audit process as described below;

 – review of the Company’s key risks and internal 
controls, including the going concern risk 
relating to the Noteholder repayments; and

 – consideration of changes to the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, Guidance on Audit 
Committees and other regulatory guidelines, 
and the subsequent impact upon the Company.

The Committee has also reviewed and 
considered the whistleblowing policy in place 
for the Company, the Administrator and other 
service providers, and is satisfied the relevant 
staff can raise concerns in confidence about 
possible improprieties in matters of financial 
reporting or other matters insofar as they may 
affect the Company.

Following the review carried out by the 
Committee as to whether there is a need for the 
Company to have its own internal audit function, 
the Board has concluded that the internal control 
and risk management systems in place within 
the Company and the internal control reports 
provided give sufficient assurance that a sound 
system of internal control, which safeguards 
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s 
assets, is maintained. The Committee receives 
input from the external auditor as part of their 
annual audit work on the overall control and risk 
environment. The Administrator’s independent 
annual control assessment is also made available 
to the Committee.
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Composition
All the Non-Executive Directors are members 
of the Committee, which is chaired by myself. 
Director biographies can be sourced on page 
19, and the Board considers that at least 
one member of the Committee has recent 
and relevant financial experience for the 
Committee to discharge its function effectively. 
The Chairman of the Company is a member 
of the Committee to enable him to be kept fully 
informed of any issues that may arise.

External audit process effectiveness review
The Committee communicated regularly with 
the investment manager and Administrator to 
obtain a good understanding of the progress 
and efficiency of the audit process. The Audit 
Committee also received feedback in relation 
to the efficacy of the investment manager 
and other service providers in performing 
their relevant roles from the audit partner and 
team. The external auditor is invited to attend 
the Committee meetings at which the semi-
annual and annual accounts are considered, 
also enabling the auditor to meet and discuss 
any matters with the Committee without the 
presence of the investment manager or 
Executive management. 

The Committee reviewed the external auditor’s 
performance, considering a wide variety of 
factors including the quality of service, the 
auditor’s specialist expertise, the level of audit 
fee, identification and resolution of any areas 
of accounting judgement, quality and timeliness 
of papers analysing these judgements.

The Committee also considered feedback from 
the Financial Reporting Council’s (‘FRC’) review 
of the Annual Report and Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31st December 2015. 
The review focussed on areas considered to 
be higher risk by the auditors and the Audit 
Committee. No significant findings were brought 
to the attention of either the auditor or the Audit 
Committee.

Auditor tenure and objectivity
Grant Thornton UK LLP has acted as Auditor 
for the Company for in excess of ten years. 
The Committee has carefully considered 
the need to put the audit out to tender 
and concluded that retaining the auditor’s 
longstanding knowledge of Candover’s 
affairs during the process of winding down 
the portfolio is seen as a particular benefit. 

To ensure the Auditor’s objectivity, the 
Committee reviews the Auditor’s performance 
on a regular basis to ensure the Company 
receives an optimal service, including a 
comprehensive review of the scope, efficiencies 
and cost of the audit. Subject to annual 
appointment by shareholder approval at the 
AGM, the appointment of the Auditor is typically 
reviewed formally by the Committee on a 
five-year basis. The Auditor is required to rotate 
the audit partner regularly on a five-year rotation, 
with the current partner in place since 2016. 

The Auditor regularly updates the Committee 
on the rotation of audit partners, staff, level of 
fees in proportion to overall fee income of the 
Company, details of any relationships between 
the Auditor, the Company, service providers 
and portfolio entities, which provide comfort 
on the overall confirmation from the Auditor of 
their independence and objectivity. There are 
no contractual obligations that restrict the 
Company’s choice of auditor.

Provision of non-audit services by the Auditor 
has also been considered by the Committee, 
which is satisfied the services are cost-effective 
and not an impediment to the Auditor’s 
independence and objectivity. Any non-audit 
work, such as the provision of taxation advice, 
must be reviewed by the Committee and 
approved by the Committee Chairman prior 
to any work being undertaken. Following 
the implementation of new EU guidelines, 
the Company has appointed Ernst & Young 
to provide taxation advice, thereby reducing 
the scope of non-audit work completed by 
the Auditor as well as any potential impact on 
the Auditor’s independence and objectivity. 

As a result of its review, the Committee is 
satisfied that Grant Thornton UK LLP is 
independent of the Company, the investment 
manager and other service providers and 
recommends the continuing appointment 
of the Auditor by the Board.
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Significant issues in relation to the Annual 
Report and Financial statements
The Audit Committee identified a number of 
significant issues and areas of key audit risks 
in respect of the Annual Report and Financial 
statements. The Committee reviewed the 
external audit plan at an early stage and 
concluded that the appropriate areas of audit 
risk relevant to the Company had been identified 
and that suitable audit procedures had been 
put in place to obtain reasonable assurance that 
the Financial statements as a whole would be 
free of material misstatements. The table below 
sets out the key areas of risk identified and how 
the Committee addressed the issues.
 

Significant issues Actions to address issue
Management controls – potential management 
override by the investment manager and the 
Administrator to perpetrate fraud as a result of 
the ability to manipulate accounting records that 
otherwise appear to be operating effectively.

The Committee reviews the annual AAF 01/06 
Assurance Report produced by the Administrator 
on the internal procedures within the Ipes Group, 
conducted on an annual basis. 

Valuation of investments – Portfolio valuations 
may be materially overstated and any gains or 
losses materially overstated or understated as 
appropriate.

Review and comparison against independent 
valuation sources, factoring in elements such 
as covenant breaches and market trends. 
Discussions with the investment manager, Arle, 
are undertaken by the Auditor, in conjunction 
with KPMG, the auditor of the funds, and 
reported to the Committee. Valuations are 
compared to the Company’s own internal 
valuation guidelines to ensure consistency. 
The Board reviews detailed portfolio valuations 
on a regular basis throughout the year, and 
receive confirmation from the investment 
manager that the valuation basis is appropriate 
and in line with relevant accounting standards.

Going concern – As part of the audit process, 
consideration has been given on both the 
Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations 
and its future options as the realisation of the 
investment portfolio is concluded. 

The Company’s 2015 refinancing, combined 
with the benefit of proceeds from portfolio 
realisations, provide adequate liquidity and 
resources to meet its financial obligations. 
The Board is exploring a number of options now 
that the portfolio is close to being fully realised. 
The Committee and Board were satisfied that the 
Company should adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the Annual Report and accounts.
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Conclusions in respect of the Annual 
Report and Financial statements
The production and the audit of the Company’s 
Annual Report and Financial statements is a 
comprehensive process requiring input from a 
number of different contributors. In order to 
reach a conclusion on whether the Company’s 
Annual Report and Financial statements is fair, 
balanced and understandable, as required under 
the UK Corporate Governance Code dated 
September 2014, the Board has requested that 
the Committee advise on whether it considers 
that the Annual Report and Financial statements 
fulfils these requirements. In outlining its advice, 
the Committee has considered the following:

 – the comprehensive documentation that 
exists outlining the controls in place for the 
production of the Annual Report, including 
the verification processes in place to confirm 
the factual content;

 – the detailed reviews undertaken at various 
stages of the production process by the 
investment manager, Administrator, Auditor 
and the Committee that are intended to 
ensure consistency and overall balance;

 – the controls enforced by the investment 
manager, Administrator and other third party 
service providers to ensure complete and 
accurate financial records and security of the 
Company’s assets; and

 – the existence of satisfactory control reports 
that have been reviewed and reported upon 
by external auditors to verify the effectiveness 
of the internal controls of the investment 
manager and Administrator, such as the 
Audit and Assurance Faculty (‘AAF’) Report.

As a result of the work performed, the Committee 
has concluded that the Annual Report and 
Financial statements for the year ended 
31st December 2016, taken as a whole, is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess 
the Company’s performance, business model, 
strategy, and has reported these findings to 
the Board.

The Board’s conclusions in this respect are set 
out in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
on page 43.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

Scott Longhurst
Audit Committee Chairman

34 Lime Street 
London EC3M 7AT
4th April 2017
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Strategic report, Directors’ report, the Remuneration 
report and the Financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
Financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the Directors have prepared the Financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (‘IFRSs’). Under company law, the Directors 
must not approve the Financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs and profit or loss of the Company 
and Group for that period. In preparing these 
Financial statements, the Directors are required to:

 – select suitable accounting policies and then  
apply them consistently;

 – make judgements and accounting estimates  
that are reasonable and prudent;

 – state whether applicable IFRSs have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the Financial 
statements; and

 – prepare the Financial statements on the  
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate  
to presume that the Company will continue  
in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and enable them to ensure 
that the Financial statements and the Directors’ 
remuneration report comply with the Companies 
Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors confirm that:

 – insofar as each of the Directors is aware there 
is no relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

 – the Directors have taken all steps that they ought 
to have taken to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that 
the auditors are aware of that information.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Company’s website. 

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

To the best of my knowledge:

 – the Financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and profit or loss of the Company and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken 
as a whole; and 

 – the Chairman’s letter, CEO’s report and Strategic 
report include a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the 
position of the Company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties that they face.

The 2014 UK Corporate Governance Code also 
requires Directors to ensure that the Annual Report 
is fair, balanced and understandable. In order to 
reach a conclusion on this matter, the Board has 
requested that the Audit Committee advise on 
whether it considers that the Annual Report fulfils 
these requirements. The process by which the 
Committee has reached these conclusions is set 
out in the Report of the Audit Committee on pages 
39 to 42. Furthermore, the Board believes that 
the disclosures set out on pages 2 to 17 of the 
Annual Report provide the necessary information 
for shareholders to assess the Company’s 
performance, business model and strategy.

Having taken into account all the matters 
considered by the Board and brought to the 
attention of the Board during the year ended 
31st December 2016, as outlined in the Corporate 
governance statement and the Report of the Audit 
Committee, the Board has concluded that the 
Annual Report for the year ended 31st December 
2016, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s 
performance, business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

Malcolm Fallen
Chief Executive Officer

34 Lime Street 
London EC3M 7AT
4th April 2017
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Our opinion on the Financial statements 
is unmodified
In our opinion:
 
 – the Financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the state of the Group’s and of the 
parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 
2016 and of the Group’s loss for the year 
then ended;

 – the Group Financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the European Union; 

 – the parent company Financial statements 
have been properly prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

 – the Financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 
Group Financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation.

Who we are reporting to
This report is made solely to the Company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company and the Company’s members as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

What we have audited
Candover Investments plc’s Financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 comprise 
the Accounting policies, the Group statement of 
comprehensive income, the Group and Company 
statements of changes in equity, the Group and 
Company statements of financial position, the 
Group and Company cash flow statements and 
the related notes.

The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and, as 
regards the parent company Financial statements, 
as applied in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Overview of our audit approach
 – Overall Group materiality: £939,000 which 

represents approximately 1.3% of the Group’s 
total assets;

 – We performed full scope audit procedures 
for both Candover Investments plc and its 
subsidiary undertaking Candover Services 
Limited; and 

 – Key audit risk was identified as valuation 
of investments. 
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Our assessment of risk
In arriving at our opinions set out in this report, we highlight the following risk that, in our judgement, 
had the greatest effect on our audit: 

Audit risk How we responded to the risk
Valuation of investments
Investments (described as 
‘Portfolio companies’ in 
the Financial statements) 
are the largest asset class 
in the Financial statements 
(comprising 65% of the 
Group’s total assets) and are 
designated at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance 
with International Accounting 
Standard (‘IAS’) 39 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement’. 
Measurement of the fair value 
of an unquoted investment 
is subjective and includes 
significant assumptions. 
We therefore identified 
valuation of investments as 
a risk that requires special 
audit consideration.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:

 – assessing the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policy 
in accordance with IAS 39 and its consistent application year 
on year; 

 – obtaining an understanding of how the valuations were 
performed by the investment manager; 

 – obtaining an understanding of matters that may affect the fair 
value of the unquoted investments including the performance 
of investee companies, the key factors affecting the industries 
they operate in and any specific issues which may impact their 
fair values, through discussions with the investment manager 
and review of management information;

 – using our valuation specialists to inform our challenge 
of the investment manager on the valuation of unquoted 
investments, the appropriateness of the valuation basis 
selected, the underlying assumptions, such as discounts and 
premiums, and the choice of benchmark earnings multiples. 
Particular attention was paid to the valuation methodology 
used and whether this was in accordance with the provisions 
of the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 
guidelines and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

 – verifying key underlying financial data inputs into the 
valuation models, such as earnings and net debt position, 
to investee company management information and testing 
their arithmetical accuracy; 

 – agreeing the valuations of level 2 investments valued as a 
function of market prices to independent sources of market 
prices; and

 – attending the Audit Committee meetings where we received 
detailed updates on investments from investment manager 
executives and observed the Committee’s challenge and 
approval of unquoted investment valuations. 

The Group’s accounting policy on financial investments, including 
their valuation, is set out on page 50, and its disclosures about 
investments held at the year-end are included in Note 9. The Audit 
Committee also identified valuation of investments as a significant 
issue in its report on page 41 where the Committee also described 
the action that it has taken to address this issue.
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Our application of materiality and an 
overview of the scope of our audit
Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of 
misstatement in the Financial statements that 
makes it probable that the economic decisions 
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would 
be changed or influenced. We use materiality 
in determining the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit work and in evaluating the results 
of that work. 

We determined materiality for the audit of the 
Group Financial statements as a whole to be 
£939,000, which is approximately 1.3% of the 
Group’s total assets at the planning stage of the 
audit. This benchmark is considered the most 
appropriate because in our view, it is a key 
driver of the Group’s performance. No revision 
to the materiality determined at the planning 
stage of our audit was necessary as we judged 
that it remained appropriate in the context of the 
Group’s actual financial results for the year ended 
31 December 2016.

Materiality for the current year is lower than 
the level that we determined for the year ended 
31 December 2015, which reflects the realisation 
of investments during 2016 and therefore the 
lower level of Group total assets upon which 
materiality is based. 

We use a different level of materiality, 
performance materiality, to drive the extent of 
our testing and this was set at 75% of financial 
statement materiality for the audit of the Group 
Financial statements. We also determine a lower 
level of specific materiality for certain areas such 
as the revenue column of the Group statement of 
comprehensive income, Directors’ remuneration 
and related party transactions.

We determined the threshold at which we 
will communicate misstatements to the Audit 
Committee to be £47,000. In addition we 
will communicate misstatements below that 
threshold that, in our view, warrant reporting 
on qualitative grounds.

Overview of the scope of our audit
A description of the generic scope of an 
audit of financial statements is provided on 
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (‘ISAs’) 
(UK and Ireland). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the 
‘Responsibilities for the financial statements 
and the audit’ section of our report. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
those Ethical Standards.

Our audit approach was based on a thorough 
understanding of the Group’s business and is 
risk based. The day-to-day management of the 
Group’s investment portfolio, the custody of its 
investments and the maintenance of the Group’s 
accounting records which are outsourced to third 
party service providers. Accordingly, our audit 
approach included:
 
 – obtaining an understanding of, and evaluating, 

internal controls at the Group and its third 
party service providers. This included 
obtaining and evaluating internal controls 
reports on the description, design and 
operating effectiveness of internal controls at 
the relevant third party service providers; 

 – undertaking substantive testing on significant 
transactions, balances and disclosures, the 
extent of which was based on various factors 
such as our overall assessment of the control 
environment, the effectiveness of controls over 
individual systems and the management of 
specific risks; and

 – performing a full scope audit of the Financial 
statements of the parent company, Candover 
Investments plc, and of the financial 
information of its subsidiary undertaking, 
Candover Services Limited.

Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Candover Investments plc cont.
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Other reporting required by regulations

Our opinions on other matters prescribed by 
the Companies Act 2006 are unmodified
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ 
remuneration report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in 
the course of the audit:

 – the information given in the Strategic report 
and the Directors’ report for the financial year 
for which the Group Financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the Financial 
statements; and 

 – the Strategic report and the Directors’ report 
have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 

Matter on which we are required to report 
under the Companies Act 2006 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding 
of the Group and the parent company and its 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, 
we have not identified material misstatements in 
the Strategic report or the Directors’ report. 

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 
to report to you if, in our opinion:

 – adequate accounting records have not been 
kept by the parent company, or returns 
adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

 – the parent company Financial statements and 
the part of the Directors’ remuneration report 
to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or

 – certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

 – we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules, we are required 
to review:

 – the Directors’ statements in relation to 
going concern and longer-term viability, 
set out on pages 23 and 8 respectively; and

 – the part of the Corporate governance 
statement relating to the Company’s 
compliance with the provisions of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code specified 
for our review.

Under the ISAs (UK and Ireland), we are required 
to report to you if, in our opinion, information 
in the annual report is:

 – materially inconsistent with the information 
in the audited Financial statements; or

 – apparently materially incorrect based on, 
or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge 
of the Group acquired in the course of 
performing our audit; or

 – otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to report to you if:

 – we have identified any inconsistencies 
between our knowledge acquired during the 
audit and the Directors’ statement that they 
consider the Annual Report is fair, balanced 
and understandable; or 

 – the Annual Report does not appropriately 
disclose those matters that were 
communicated to the Audit Committee which 
we consider should have been disclosed.

We have nothing to report in respect of any of 
the above matters.

We also confirm that we do not have anything 
material to add or to draw attention to in 
relation to:

 – the Directors’ confirmation in the Annual 
Report that they have carried out a robust 
assessment of the principal risks facing the 
Group including those that would threaten 
its business model, future performance, 
solvency or liquidity;

 – the disclosures in the Annual Report that 
describe those risks and explain how they 
are being managed or mitigated;
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 – the Directors’ statement in the Financial 
statements about whether they have 
considered it appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparing 
them, and their identification of any material 
uncertainties to the Group’s ability to continue 
to do so over a period of at least twelve 
months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements; and

 – the Directors’ explanation in the Annual 
Report as to how they have assessed the 
prospects of the Group, over what period 
they have done so and why they consider 
that period to be appropriate, and their 
statement as to whether they have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group will 
be able to continue in operation and meet 
its liabilities as they fall due over the period 
of their assessment, including any related 
disclosures drawing attention to any 
necessary qualifications or assumptions. 

Responsibilities for the Financial statements 
and the audit

What the Directors are responsible for:
As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Directors’ responsibilities set out on page 43, 
the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the Financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. 

What we are responsible for:
Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the Financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and ISAs 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

William Pointon 
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London

4th April 2017
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The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these Financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the periods presented.

Basis of preparation
The Group and Company have prepared 
their Financial statements under International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union (‘IFRSs’) and in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2006. IFRSs comprise 
standards and interpretations approved by 
the International Accounting Standards Board 
(‘IASB’) and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) as adopted in 
the European Union as at 31st December 2016.

The Financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis of accounting, 
except for measurement at fair value of financial 
investments designated at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

Going concern
The Directors are required to satisfy themselves 
that it is reasonable to presume that the 
Company is a going concern.

The Group’s business activities, together with 
the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position, are set out in the 
Chairman’s letter, the Chief Executive Officer’s 
report and the Manager’s portfolio review. The 
financial position of the Group, its cash flows, 
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are 
described in the Financial review. 

The Corporate governance section and the 
Risk review, included in the Strategic report, 
outline the Group’s financial and operational risks. 
In addition, Note 21 to the Financial statements 
includes the Group’s financial risk management 
objectives, its capital management policies and 
procedures, details of its financial instruments 
and hedging activities and its exposures to 
market risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, liquidity risk and other price risk.

In July 2015, the Company successfully 
refinanced its debt, replacing US PP Loan Notes 
due for repayment in December 2015 with a 
new term loan facility with 17Capital. The new 
facility has a maturity of five years and allows the 
Company sufficient headroom to deal with any 

delays in investment realisations. The facility 
continues to provide liquidity for the Company 
to meet its operational liabilities.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group and the Company have adequate 
resources to continue as a going concern 
for the foreseeable future. For these reasons, 
they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the Report and accounts.

The significant accounting policies are set 
out below:

Investment Trust Statement of Recommended 
Practice (‘SORP’)
Where presentational guidance set out in 
the SORP for investment trusts, issued by the 
Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’), 
is consistent with the requirements of IFRSs, 
the Directors have sought to prepare the financial 
statements on a basis compliant with the SORP.

Management expenses and finance costs
During the year the Company reviewed its split 
between revenue and capital of management 
expenses resulting in an unchanged allocation 
based on the nature of estimated long-term 
returns. Management expenses and finance 
costs have been allocated 50% to capital and 
50% to revenue (2015: 50% to capital and 50% 
to revenue). 

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the Financial statements of the 
Company and Candover Services Limited, 
100% owned and controlled by the Company 
(the ‘subsidiary undertaking’), and made up 
to the Statement of financial position date.

The Company has control over the activities of 
its subsidiary, Candover Services Limited. The 
Company controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has the rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. In light of the Company’s power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of Candover 
Services Limited, the Company has consolidated 
this entity. Under the requirements of IFRS 10, 
ownership interest in entities controlled by an 
investment entity are generally to be accounted 
for at fair value in accordance with IAS 39 rather 
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than being consolidated. In assessing the impact 
of these guidelines, critical judgements were 
made in assessing whether Candover Services 
Limited should be accounted for at fair value 
under IAS 39 or consolidated in the Group 
Financial statements. In line with provisions under 
IFRS 10, the activities of Candover Services 
Limited relate to supporting the Company in its 
investment activities, and itself is not considered 
to be an investment entity. It is therefore 
appropriate to consolidate Candover Services 
Limited in the Group Financial statements.

Revenue
Interest income on financial investments, 
and cash and cash equivalents, is recognised 
in the Statement of comprehensive income using 
the effective interest rate applicable. A provision 
will be made against this income where there 
is uncertainty as to its future recoverability. 
The requirement or otherwise for a provision is 
considered in conjunction with the valuation 
of the related financial investment, the approach 
to which is stated below. Other income is 
recognised when the right to receive the payment 
is established.

Operating segments
Candover’s operating segments are being 
reported based on the financial information 
provided to the Chief Executive Officer of 
Candover. Co-investment activity is presented 
in the Group statement of comprehensive 
income in accordance with the SORP. 
Income arising from co-investment is reported 
under ‘revenue’, and capital gains and losses 
within ‘capital’.

The Group’s material non-current assets are 
the portfolio companies of the co-investment 
segment. These are assessed geographically in 
the Manager’s portfolio review on pages 12 to 17.

Financial investments
The Directors consider that a substantial 
measure of the performance of the Group is 
assessed through the capital gains and losses 
arising from the investment activity of the Group. 
Consequently, for measurement and reporting 
purposes financial investments, including equity, 
loan and similar instruments, are designated at 
fair value through profit and loss and are valued 
in compliance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, IFRS 13: Fair 

Value Measurement and the International Private 
Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines 
as recommended by the BVCA, the principles of 
which are set out on page 18.

For investments actively traded in organised 
financial markets, fair value is generally 
determined by reference to Stock Exchange 
quoted market prices at the close of business 
at the Statement of financial position date and 
are classified within Level 1.

Investments not actively traded in organised 
financial markets, but valued based on quoted 
market prices, dealer quotations or alternative 
pricing sources supported by observable inputs, 
are classified within Level 2. 

Level 3 investments have significant 
unobservable inputs and include private equity 
and corporate debt securities.

Financial investments are recognised in the 
Statement of financial position at fair value. 
Gains or losses on the realisation of financial 
investments are dealt with in profit or loss 
in the Statement of comprehensive income and 
taken to the realised capital reserve. Financial 
investments are not held for immediate resale 
and any gains on realisations are not available 
for distribution as a dividend. The difference 
between the fair value of financial investments 
and cost to the Group is shown as an unrealised 
gain or loss in the Statement of comprehensive 
income and taken to the unrealised capital 
reserve.

The value of underlying PIK income on financial 
investments that include preference shares and 
other interest-bearing securities is recognised 
as ‘revenue’ in profit or loss on the Statement 
of comprehensive income. Changes in the value 
of embedded options and the principal itself are 
treated as capital. 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are 
reflected in the Company’s accounts at cost 
less impairment.
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Receivables and payables
Receivables and payables are accounted for 
at fair value at initial recognition and thereafter 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash-in-hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-
dated listed fixed income securities and money 
market instruments. Such assets are held to 
meet the operational needs of the business and 
service its finance costs. They are classified as 
loans and receivables under IAS 39.

Borrowings
Interest-bearing loans and overdrafts are initially 
recognised at the fair value of the liability, 
net of direct issue costs. After initial recognition, 
these are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated 
future cash flows through the expected life of the 
liabilities. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any issue costs and any discount or 
premium on settlement. Finance costs, including 
premiums payable on settlement or redemption 
and direct issue costs, are accounted for on 
an accruals basis within profit or loss in the 
Statement of comprehensive income using the 
effective interest method. Movements in value for 
currency fluctuations are taken to the Statement 
of comprehensive income.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in full, using the 
liability method, on all temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
Financial statements. Deferred tax is measured 
using rates of tax that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the Statement of 
financial position date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

Due to the Company’s status as an investment 
trust, and the intention to continue meeting 
the conditions required to obtain approval in 
the foreseeable future, the Company has not 
provided for deferred tax on any capital gains 

and losses arising on the revaluation or disposal 
of investments.

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at period-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or 
loss. Where exchange differences result from 
the translation into Sterling of foreign currency 
resources that are held for future financial 
investments or resulting from financial 
investments, the gain or loss is accounted for 
in the Statement of comprehensive income and 
taken to capital reserves.

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the 
risks and rewards of ownership are retained by 
the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases (net of 
any incentives received from the lessor and net 
of any income received from sub-letting) are 
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised 
when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the Group from a contract are lower than the 
unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under 
the contract. Provision is made for the present 
value of foreseeable rental commitments in 
respect of surplus property, after offsetting any 
future sub-letting income that could be earned. 
Surplus property includes premises which will 
become redundant as a result of steps to which 
the Group is committed.
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Exceptional items
Additional provisions and costs are recognised 
as exceptional costs and are charged to the 
Statement of comprehensive income in the year.

Dividends payable
Final dividends are accounted for when they are 
approved at the AGM. Interim dividends are 
recognised when paid.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of Financial statements requires 
the use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the Financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reported period. Although 
these estimates are based on management’s 
best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, 
actual results ultimately may differ from those 
estimates.

The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
relate to:

 – the expectation that the Group and the 
Company have adequate resources to 
continue as a going concern (see Accounting 
policies page 49);

 – the valuation of unlisted financial investments 
held at fair value through profit and loss, which 
are valued on the basis noted above (in the 
section headed Financial investments), the key 
areas of judgement being the adjustments 
required to normalise sustainable earnings 
and the appropriate comparable multiple to 
apply. The valuation policy is set out on page 
18 and the Group’s exposure to valuation and 
market price risk is considered in Note 21.1;

 – the recognition or otherwise of accrued 
income on loan notes and similar instruments 
granted to portfolio companies, which are 
assessed in conjunction with the overall 
valuation of unlisted financial investments as 
noted above;

 – the appropriateness of the allocation of 
management expenses between revenue 
and capital at 50:50, which is based on the 
split of the long-term anticipated return from 
anticipated investment realisations between 
revenue and capital, which has no impact 
on profit before tax but does affect the 
allocation of expenses between capital 
and revenue on the income statement; and

 – finance costs, which have been allocated 
on the same basis as the above, whereas 
movements in the carrying value of 
borrowings and related instruments have 
been  taken to the unrealised capital reserve 
as they have been raised to fund future 
financial investments. 

Impact of new accounting standards
A number of amendments to existing standards 
and interpretations have been issued, some 
of which were mandatory for period beginning 
1st January 2016, with the remaining becoming 
effective in future period. The new standards 
and amendments to existing standards effective 
for the year to 31st December 2016 have 
been considered and do not have a material 
impact on the financial statements of the Group 
and Company.

Standards in issue but not effective
New and amended standards:

 – IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification 
and Measurement (effective 1st January 
2018); 

 – IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosure 
(effective 1st January 2018);

 – IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts from 
Customers (effective 1st January 2018); and

 – IFRS 16 Leases (effective 1st January 2019).

Unless stated otherwise changes are not 
considered to have a material impact.
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Notes

Year to 31st December 2016 Year to 31st December 2015

Revenue 
£m

Capital
 £m

Total1 
£m

Revenue 
£m

Capital 
£m

Total1 
£m

Gains/(losses) on financial 
instruments
Realised (loss)/gains – (3.4) (3.4) – 0.6 0.6
Unrealised (loss)/gains 19 (10.3) 11.4 1.1 – (54.4) (54.4)
Total (10.3) 8.0 (2.3) – (53.8) (53.8)

Revenue/(expense)
Investment and other income 1 0.2 – 0.2 6.4 – 6.4
Total 0.2 – 0.2 6.4 – 6.4

Recurring administrative expenses 2 (1.7) (0.4) (2.1) (2.6) (0.9) (3.5)
Exceptional non-recurring costs 3 – – – (5.1) – (5.1)
(Loss)/profit before finance costs 
and taxation (11.8) 7.6 (4.2) (1.3) (54.7) (56.0)

Finance costs 4 (3.7) (3.7) (7.4) (3.2) (3.2) (6.4)
Exchange movements on borrowings – (6.0) (6.0) – (1.5) (1.5)
(Loss)/profit before taxation (15.5) (2.1) (17.6) 4.5 (59.4) (63.9)

Analysed between:
(Loss)/profit before exceptional  
non-recurring costs (15.5) (2.1) (17.6) 0.6 (59.4) (58.8)
Exceptional non-recurring costs – – – (5.1) – (5.1)

Taxation 5 – – – (2.1) – (2.1)
Loss after taxation (15.5) (2.1) (17.6) (6.6) (59.4) (66.0)

Total comprehensive loss (15.5) (2.1) (17.6) (6.6) (59.4) (66.0)

Loss per ordinary share:
Total loss per share – basic and diluted 8  (70p)  (10p) (80p) (30p) (272p) (302p)

1 The total column represents the Group statement of comprehensive income under IFRS
 i  All of the gain for the year and the total comprehensive income for the year are attributable to the owners of 

the Company
 ii  The supplementary revenue and capital columns are presented for information purposes as recommended 

by the Statement of Recommended Practice issued by the Association of Investment Companies and updated 
in November 2014 
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Notes

Called
 up share 

capital
£m

Share 
premium 
account 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Capital 
reserves– 

realised 
£m

Capital 
reserves– 
unrealised 

£m

Revenue 
reserve 

£m

Total 
equity

 £m

Balance at 1st January 2016 5.5 1.2 (0.1) 309.9 (252.4) (10.9) 53.2

Net revenue after tax – – – – – (5.2) (5.2)
Unrealised loss on  
financial instruments 19 – – – – 11.4 (10.3) 1.1
Realised gain/(loss) on  
financial instruments – – – (114.3) 110.9 – (3.4)
Exchange movements  
on borrowing – – – – (6.0) – (6.0)
Costs net of tax – – – (4.1) – – (4.1)
Loss after tax – – – (118.4) 116.3 (15.5) (17.6)
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit – – – (118.4) 116.3 (15.5) (17.6)
Balance at 31st December 2016 5.5 1.2 (0.1) 191.5 (136.1) (26.4) 35.6

Notes

Called
 up share 

capital
£m

Share 
premium 
account 

£m

Other 
reserves 

£m

Capital 
reserves– 

realised 
£m

Capital 
reserves– 
unrealised 

£m

Revenue 
reserve 

£m

Total 
equity

 £m

Balance at 1st January 2015 5.5 1.2 (0.1)  310.4 (193.5) (4.3) 119.2

Net revenue after tax – – – – –  (6.6)  (6.6)
Unrealised loss on  
financial instruments 19 – – – –  (54.4) – (54.4)
Realised gain/(loss) on  
financial instruments – – – 3.6 (3.0) – 0.6
Exchange movements  
on borrowing – – – – (1.5) – (1.5)
Costs net of tax – – – (4.1) – – (4.1)
Loss after tax – – – (0.5) (58.9)  (6.6) (66.0)
Total comprehensive loss – – – (0.5) (58.9)  (6.6) (66.0)
Balance at 31st December 2015 5.5 1.2 (0.1) 309.9 (252.4) (10.9) 53.2
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Notes

Called
 up share 

capital
£m

Share 
premium 
account 

£m

Capital 
reserves– 

realised 
£m

Capital 
reserves– 
unrealised 

£m

Revenue 
reserve 

£m

Total 
equity

 £m

Balance at 1st January 2016 5.5 1.2 311.5 (252.9) (43.2) 22.1

Net revenue after tax – – – – (5.4) (5.4)
Unrealised loss on  
financial instruments 19 – – – 11.4 (10.3) 1.1
Realised gain/(loss) on  
financial instruments – – (114.3) 110.9 – (3.4)
Exchange movements  
on borrowing – – – (6.0) – (6.0)
Costs net of tax – – (4.1) – – (4.1)
Loss after tax – – (118.4) 116.3 (15.7) (17.8)
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit – – (118.4) 116.3 (15.7) (17.8)
Balance at 31st December 2016 5.5 1.2 193.1 (136.6) (58.9) 4.3

Notes

Called
 up share 

capital
£m

Share 
premium 
account 

£m

Capital 
reserves– 

realised 
£m

Capital 
reserves– 
unrealised 

£m

Revenue 
reserve 

£m

Total 
equity

 £m

Balance at 1st January 2015 5.5 1.2 312.0 (194.0) (35.9) 88.8

Net revenue after tax – – – – (7.3) (7.3)
Unrealised loss on  
financial instruments 19 – – – (54.4) – (54.4)
Realised gain/(loss) on  
financial instruments – – 3.6 (3.0) – 0.6
Exchange movements  
on borrowing – – – (1.5) – (1.5)
Costs net of tax – – (4.1) – – (4.1)
Loss after tax – – (0.5) (58.9) (7.3) (66.7)
Total comprehensive loss – – (0.5) (58.9) (7.3) (66.7)
Balance at 31st December 2015 5.5 1.2 311.5 (252.9) (43.2) 22.1
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31st December 2016 31st December 2015

Notes £m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Financial investments designated at fair value  
through profit and loss
Portfolio companies 9 46.0 82.0
Other financial investments 9 0.7 0.6

46.7 82.6
Trade and other receivables 11 2.4 3.5

49.1 86.1
Current assets
Current tax asset 11 – 0.2
Cash and cash equivalents 12 21.3 6.5

21.3 6.7
Current liabilities
Other payables 13 (0.1) (0.2)

(0.1) (0.2)

Net current assets 21.2 6.5
Total assets less current liabilities 70.3 92.6
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 14 (34.7) (39.4)
Net assets 35.6 53.2

Equity attributable to equity holders
Called up share capital 16 5.5 5.5
Share premium account 1.2 1.2
Other reserves (0.1) (0.1)
Capital reserve – realised 191.5 309.9
Capital reserve – unrealised (136.1) (252.4)
Revenue reserve (26.4) (10.9)
Total equity 35.6 53.2

Net asset value per share
Basic 163p 243p
Diluted 163p 243p
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Notes

31st December 2016 31st December 2015

£m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Financial investments designated at fair value  
through profit and loss
Portfolio companies 9 46.0 82.0
Other financial investments 9 0.7 0.6

46.7 82.6
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 9,10 4.6 4.6

51.3 87.2
Current assets
Other receivables 11 – –
Current tax asset 11 – 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents 12 20.8 6.2

20.8 6.3
Current liabilities
Other payables 13 (33.1) (32.0)

(33.1) (32.0)
Net current liabilities (12.3) (25.7)
Total assets less current liabilities  39.0  61.5
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 14 (34.7) (39.4)
Net assets 4.3 22.1

Equity attributable to equity holders
Called up share capital 16  5.5  5.5
Share premium account  1.2  1.2
Capital reserve – realised  193.1  311.5
Capital reserve – unrealised (136.6) (252.9)
Revenue reserve (58.9) (43.2)
Total equity  4.3  22.1

1. During the year the Company made a total comprehensive loss of £17.8 million (31st December 2015: £66.7 million)

The Financial statements were approved on behalf of the Directors on 4th April 2017.

Richard Stone
Chairman
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Notes

Year to
31st December 2016

Year to
31st December 2015

£m £m £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flow from operations 20 (0.6) (4.1)
Interest paid (2.4) (2.3)
Tax received – –
Net cash outflow from operating activities (3.0) (6.4)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial investments – (2.3)
Sale of financial investments  30.1 8.2
Net cash inflow from investing activities  30.1 5.9

Cash flows from financing activities
Loan notes repayment – (54.0)
Loan facility utilised – 35.0
Loan facility repayment (15.8) –
Net cash outflow from financing activities (15.8) (19.0)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11.3 (19.5)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 6.5 26.6
Effect of exchange rates and revaluation on  
cash and cash equivalents 3.5 (0.6)
Closing cash and cash equivalents 12 21.3 6.5
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Notes

Year to
31st December 2016

Year to
31st December 2015

£m £m £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flow from operations 20 (0.8) (4.4)
Interest paid (2.4) (2.3)
Tax received – –
Net cash from operating activities (3.2) (6.7)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial investments – (2.3)
Sale of financial investments 30.1 8.2
Net cash from investing activities 30.1 5.9

Cash flows from financing activities
Loan notes repayment – (54.0)
Loan facility utilised – 35.0
Loan facility repayment (15.8) –
Net cash outflow from financing activities (15.8) (19.0)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11.1 (19.8)

Opening cash and cash equivalents 6.2 26.6
Effect of exchange rates and revaluation on  
cash and cash equivalents 3.5 (0.6)
Closing cash and cash equivalents 12  20.8 6.2
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Note 1 Revenue

2016 2015

£m £m £m £m

Investment income
Income from financial investments – 6.0
Income from other fixed interest securities 0.2 0.4

0.2 6.4

Income from financial investments is derived from the provision of capital to unquoted companies 
and represents accrued income arising on those investments. Where valuations reduce year-on-year, 
income may be reversed giving rise to a charge to the income statement. Income from other fixed 
interest securities represents interest on surplus cash.

Note 2 Administrative expenses
2016

£m
2015

£m

Management expenses Revenue 0.4 0.9
Capital 0.4 0.9

Other administrative expenses Revenue  1.3 6.8
Total administrative expenses 2.1 8.6

Staff costs (including Directors’ remuneration) 0.5 0.9
Auditor’s remuneration 0.1 0.1
Non-recurring exceptional costs (see below) – 5.1

Staff costs:
Salaries 0.4 0.7
Bonus – –
Social security costs 0.1 0.1
Pension, insurance and other costs – 0.1

0.5 0.9

As at 31st December 2016, the number of employees of the Group was two (2015: two). 
The employees provide the Group’s support services. The Directors’ remuneration report is shown 
on pages 32 to 38. The total remuneration of the Directors during the year was £0.4 million 
(2015: £0.7 million). Total employer’s national insurance contributions of the Directors was £0.1 million 
for the year.

Administrative costs which are shown above, include the costs of Non-Executive Directors and two 
employees, none of whom are investment executives.

The Company had one employee during the course of the year: Malcolm Fallen, Chief Executive 
Officer (2015: one).
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Auditor’s remuneration
During the year, Grant Thornton UK LLP earned the following fees:

2016
£

2015
£

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the  
Company’s annual accounts 60,000 72,500
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of  
subsidiary undertakings 10,000 15,000
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates  
for other services:
– Corporation tax services – 22,200
– Audit-related assurance services: Interim review 24,000 30,000
Auditor’s remuneration 94,000 139,700

Note 3 Exceptional non-recurring costs for the Group
Exceptional non-recurring costs for the Group for the current year are made up as follows:

2016
£m

2015
£m

Property costs  –  – 
Property provision release  –  – 
Property provision (write-back)  – (0.5)
Other costs  – 5.6

 – 5.1

Property costs relate to the cost of rent, rates and service charge from 1st January to 31st December, 
which are not regular operating costs of the underlying business. The property provision has been 
written back to £nil as detailed in Note 18. Other costs relate to the impairment provision made against 
non-recoverable co-investment loans following the significant drop in the valuation of Expro.

Note 4 Finance costs

2016
£m

2015
£m

Interest on loans and borrowings 3.7 3.2
Finance costs Revenue 3.7 3.2

2016
£m

2015
£m

Interest on loans and borrowings 3.7 3.2
Finance costs Capital 3.7 3.2
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Note 5 Taxation
The relationship between the expected tax charge based on the effective tax rate of 20% (2015: 
20.25%) and the tax charge actually recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income can be 
reconciled as below. As the Company is an investment trust, no tax is payable on capital gains made 
during the period; consequently the profit before tax used in the reconciliation below relates solely to 
the revenue column of the Statement of comprehensive income.

2016
£m

2015
£m

(Loss)/profit before taxation (15.5) (4.5)

Tax rate1 20% 20.25%
Expected tax charge (3.1) (0.9)

Adjustments for tax-rate differences:
– Other non-deductible expense (1.2) (0.3)
– Unutilised losses carried forward 5.1 2.1
– Capitalised expenses (net of taxable income) (0.8) (0.9)
Adjustment in respect of recognition of tax losses – (2.1)
Total tax charge for the year – (2.1)

1 The tax rate represents the weighted average of tax rates applicable in the year 2016

Please refer to Note 15 for information on the deferred tax assets and liabilities. The analysis of the 
charge is as follows:

2016
£m

2015
£m

Current tax – –
UK corporation tax on profits for the year – –
Adjustments in respect of previous years – –
Overseas taxation – –
Total current tax – –

Deferred tax – –
Origination and reversal of temporary differences – –
Adjustment in respect of previous years – –
Adjustment in respect of recognition of tax losses – (2.1)
Total deferred tax – (2.1)

Tax on ordinary activities – –

Tax charge for the year – (2.1)
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The Company carries on business as an investment trust and has been accepted as an approved 
investment trust by HM Revenue & Customs under Sections 1158 and 1159 of the Corporation Tax 
Act 2010, subject to the Company continuing to meet eligibility conditions. The Directors are of the 
opinion that the Company has conducted its affairs in a manner which will satisfy the conditions for 
continued approval. 

Note 6 Profit for the financial year
As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not included its own 
Statement of comprehensive income in these Financial statements. The Group loss after tax for 
the year includes a loss of £17.8 million (2015: £66.7 million) which is dealt with in the Financial 
statements of the Company.

Note 7 Dividends
No dividends were paid in 2016 (2015: £nil). No final dividend is proposed for 2016.

Note 8 Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings and net asset values per share is based on the following:

2016
£m

2015
£m

Revenue return (15.5) (6.6)
Capital loss (2.1) (59.4)
Loss after tax (17.6) (66.0)
Net assets  35.6  53.2

2016
million

2015 
million

Weighted average number of shares – basic 21.9 21.9
Weighted average number of shares – diluted 21.9 21.9

At the year end there were 21,856,615 ordinary shares in issue. Treasury shares and outstanding 
options were taken into account when calculating the earnings per share.
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Note 9 Financial investments designated at fair value through profit and loss and investment 
in subsidiary undertakings

Other 
financial 

investments 
£m

Portfolio 
companies 

£m
Total 

£m

Group 2016
Valuation at 1st January 2016 0.6  82.0  82.6
Additions –  – –
Disposals –  (33.6) (33.6)
Unrealised depreciation 0.1 (2.4) (2.3)
Valuation at 31st December 2016 0.7  46.0  46.7

Reconciliation
Cost of investments 18.1  162.3  180.4
Net unrealised appreciation/(write-down) of investments (17.4) (116.3) (133.7)
Valuation at 31st December 2016 0.7  46.0  46.7

Other 
financial 

investments 
£m

Portfolio 
companies 

£m
Total

 £m

Group 2015
Valuation at 1st January 2015  0.6 135.0  135.6
Additions – 2.3 2.3
Disposals – (8.2) (8.2)
Unrealised depreciation – (47.1) (47.1)
Valuation at 31st December 2015 0.6  82.0  82.6

Reconciliation
Cost of investments 0.6 265.0  265.6
Net unrealised write-down of investments – (183.0) (183.0)
Valuation at 31st December 2015 0.6  82.0  82.6
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Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings 
£m

Other 
financial 

investments 
£m

Portfolio 
companies 

£m
Total 

£m

Company 2016
Valuation at 1st January 2016 4.6 0.6  82.0  87.2
Additions – – – –
Disposals – –  (33.6) (33.6)
Unrealised depreciation – 0.1 (2.4) (2.3)
Valuation at 31st December 2016 4.6 0.7  46.0  51.3

Reconciliation
Cost of investments 4.6 18.1  162.3  185.0 
Net unrealised write-down of investments – (17.4) (116.3) (133.7)
Valuation at 31st December 2016 4.6 0.7  46.0  51.3

Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings 
£m

Other 
financial 

investments 
£m

Portfolio 
companies 

£m
Total 

£m

Company 2015
Valuation at 1st January 2015 4.6  6.0  135.0 140.2
Additions – – 2.3 2.3
Disposals – – (8.2) (8.2)
Unrealised write-down – – (47.1) (47.1)
Valuation at 31st December 2015 4.6  0.6  82.0  87.2

Reconciliation
Cost of investments 4.6 0.6 265.0  270.2
Net unrealised write-down of investments – – (183.0) (183.0)
Valuation at 31st December 2015 4.6 0.6  82.0  87.2
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Investments at fair value include:
2016

£m
2015

£m

Group 
UK
Unquoted at Directors’ valuation 0.6 0.5
Europe
Unquoted at Directors’ valuation 46.1 82.1

46.7 82.6

2016
£m

2015
£m

Company
UK
Unquoted at Directors’ valuation 0.6 0.5
Europe
Unquoted at Directors’ valuation 46.1 82.1

46.7 82.6

Interests in the Candover 2005 and 2008 Funds (other financial investments)
The Company is a Special Limited Partner in the Candover 2005 Fund and is entitled to participate 
in profits after a minimum rate of return has been achieved by the Limited Partners. This profit 
entitlement is referred to as the carried interest and held at fair value through profit and loss. 

As at 31st December 2016, Candover’s investments as a Special Limited Partner in the Candover 
2005 Funds were valued at £0.5 million (2015: £0.4 million). 
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Note 10 Subsidiary undertakings

Nature of business
Country of 

incorporation Issued share capital

Candover Services Limited¹
Administration and 

management company
England and 

Wales
£4,400,000 

ordinary

1 Wholly owned directly by Candover Investments plc

Note 11 Trade and other receivables

 

Group Company

2016 
£m

2015
 £m

2016 
£m

2015 
£m

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade receivables – – – 0.1
Social security and other taxes – 0.2 – 0.1

– 0.2 – 0.1
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Trade receivables 2.4 3.5 – –

2.4 3.7 – 0.1

Note 12 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company 

2016
£m

2015
£m

2016
£m

2015
£m

Listed fixed interest securities and money market funds 20.7 5.9 20.7 5.9
Cash at bank and in hand 0.6 0.6 0.1 0.3

21.3 6.5 20.8 6.2

Additional commentary on the holdings of cash and cash equivalents is provided in Note 21.3.

Note 13 Trade and other payables
Group Company 

2016
£m

2015
£m

2016
£m

2015
£m

Amounts due to Group undertakings – – 33.0 31.9
Accruals and deferred income 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.1 0.2 33.1 32.0

Note 14 Loans and borrowings
Group Company 

2016
£m

2015
£m

2016
£m

2015 
£m

Loan and borrowings due between one and five years 34.7 39.4 34.7 39.4
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Rate

Group Company 

2016
 £m

2015
 £m

2016
 £m

2015
 £m

17Capital LLP loan facilities:
Loan payable including capitalised accrued interest 20.6% 35.0 39.7  35.0 39.7
Deferred cost – 17Capital LLP loan facilities 
transaction fees (0.3) (0.3) (0.3) (0.3)

34.7 39.4  34.7 39.4

The 20.6% is the effective interest rate based on anticipated cash flows. 

Note 15 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
No temporary differences resulting from investments in subsidiary undertakings qualified for 
recognition as deferred tax assets or liabilities. Under the current fiscal environment, disposals of 
these entities are exempt from capital gains taxes.

Deferred taxes arising from temporary differences can be summarised as follows:

2016 2015

Deferred 
tax asset 

£m

Deferred 
tax 

liabilities
£m

Deferred
tax asset 

£m

Deferred
tax

liabilities 
£m

Group and Company
Deferred tax at 1st January – –  2.1 –
Deferred tax credit/(charge) in profit and loss account: 
Prior year – – – –
Current year – – (2.1)
Deferred tax at 31st December – – – –

Other temporary differences arise primarily in respect of contributions into the EBT and in relation 
to tax losses carried forward which have been assessed for recoverability against future earnings. 

The Group has carried forward tax losses of £141.3 million (2015: £115.7 million) and therefore an 
unrecognised deferred tax asset of £24.0 million (2015: £23.1 million). Of the deferred tax asset, 
£21.6 million (2015: £20.2 million) relates to losses carried forward, of which £21.6 million (2015: 
£20.2 million) relates to the Company.

68 Candover Investments plc Report and accounts 2016

Notes to the Financial statements
for the year ended 31st December 2016 cont.



Note 16 Share capital
2016 2015

Number £m Number £m

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of 25p each 29,000,000 7.3 29,000,000 7.3
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of 25p each at 1st January and  
31st December (including shares held in treasury) 21,856,615 5.5 21,856,615 5.5
Ordinary shares of 25p each at 1st January and  
31st December (excluding shares held in treasury) 21,778,580 5.5 21,778,580 5.5

No ordinary shares were bought by the Company to be held in treasury (2015: nil).

Notifiable interests in the Company’s shares
Set out below are the names of those persons who, insofar as the Company is aware as at 28th March 
2017, are interested directly or indirectly in 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Number of 
ordinary shares 

of 25p each

%
of voting

rights

Deutsche Asset Management 3,184,888 14.62
CG Asset Management 2,058,532 9.45
BP Investment Management 1,345,743 6.18
ISP Securities Zurich 1,252,211 5.75
Merseyside Pension Fund 800,000 3.67
River and Mercantile Asset Management 759,636 3.49
Credo Capital 734,359 3.37

As at 31st December 2016, Deutsche Asset Management held 14.62% of the issued share capital of 
the Company.

Note 17 Capital commitments
The Group had no outstanding commitments or contingent liabilities as at 31st December 2016 
(2015: £nil). 
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Note 18 Provisions
2016

£m
2015 

£m

At 1st January –  0.5
Provision used in the period –  – 
Effect of unwinding discount –  – 
Property provision write-back – (0.5)
At 31st December –  – 

The Company was the ultimate guarantor of a leasehold property that has a lease which expired on 
31st December 2014. Provision was made for the estimated fair value of unavoidable lease payments 
together with an estimate of the associated cost of rates, service charges and reinstatement under 
the terms of the lease. At 31st December 2015, the provision was written back to £nil, following full 
and final settlement in relation to these agreements.

Note 19 Unrealised gains/(losses) on financial instruments

2016
£m

2015
£m

Loss on revaluation of investments at fair value though profit and loss (2.4) (53.8)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) on cash and cash equivalents 3.5 (0.6)

1.1 (54.4)

Note 20 Reconciliation of operating income to net cash flow from operating activities

2016
£m

2015
£m

Group
Total income  0.2 6.4
Administrative expenses (2.1) (3.5)

Operating income (1.9)  2.9
Increase in trade and other receivables1  1.4 (6.7)
Decrease in trade and other payables (0.1) (0.3)
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (0.6) (4.1)

1  Includes accrued portfolio income recognised within Financial investments shown under Non-current assets in the Group 
statement of financial position
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2016
£m

2015
£m

Company
Total income – 6.2
Administrative expenses (2.0) (3.5)

Operating income (2.0)  2.7
Increase in trade and other receivables1  0.1 (7.2)
Increase in trade and other payables  1.1  0.1
Net cash outflow from operating activities (0.8) (4.4)

1  Includes accrued portfolio income recognised within Financial investments shown under Non-current assets in the Group 
statement of financial position

Note 21 Financial risk management
The Company and Group’s activities expose the Group to a variety of financial risks arising from 
its investment in equities and other instruments for the long term so as to achieve its investment 
objectives. Underlying investments in investee companies take the form of equity and debt 
investments treated as single investments designated at fair value through profit or loss. In pursuing 
its investment objectives, the Group is exposed to a variety of risks that could result in either a 
reduction in the Group’s net assets or a reduction of the profits available for dividends.

These risks include market risk (comprising valuation currency risk and interest rate risk), liquidity risk 
and credit risk. The Board of the Company oversees the Group’s risk management and the Directors’ 
approach to the management of these risks is set out below. 

The objectives, policies and processes for managing the risks and the methods used to measure the 
risks that are set out below have not changed from the previous accounting period.

Summary of financial instruments held

Group 
Assets as per statement of financial position 

2016

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Assets at fair 
value through 

profit and loss
£m

Total
£m

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 2.4 – 2.4
Financial investments designated at fair value through profit and loss – 46.7 46.7
Cash and cash equivalents 21.3 – 21.3

23.7 46.7 70.4
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Prepayments are excluded from trade and other receivables’ balance as this analysis is only required 
for financial instruments.

Group
Liabilities as per statement of financial position

2016

Other financial 
liabilities 

at total 
amortised 

cost 
£m

Total 
£m

Loans and borrowings 34.7 34.7
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 0.1 0.1

34.8 34.8

Comparatives for 2015 were:

Group 
Assets as per statement of financial position

2015

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

£m
Total

£m

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 3.7 – 3.7
Financial investments designated at fair value through profit and loss – 82.6 82.6
Cash and cash equivalents 6.5 – 6.5

10.2 82.6 92.8

Prepayments are excluded from trade and other receivables’ balance as this analysis is only required 
for financial instruments.
 

Group 
Liabilities as per statement of financial position

2015

Other financial 
liabilities

at total 
amortised

cost
£m

Total 
£m

Loans and borrowings 39.4 39.4
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 0.2 0.2

39.6 39.6
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Company 
Assets as per statement of financial position

2016

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Assets at fair 
value through 

profit and loss 
£m

Total 
£m

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments – – –
Financial investments designated at fair value through profit and loss – 46.7 46.7
Cash and cash equivalents 20.8 – 20.8

20.8 46.7 67.5

Prepayments are excluded from trade and other receivables’ balance as this analysis is only required 
for financial instruments.

Company 
Liabilities as per statement of financial position

2016

Other financial 
liabilities 

at total 
amortised 

cost
£m

Total
£m

Loans and borrowings 33.1 33.1
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 34.7 34.7

67.8 67.8

Comparatives for 2015 were:

Company 
Assets as per statement of financial position

2015

Loans and 
receivables 

£m

Assets at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

£m
Total 

£m

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 0.1 – 0.1
Financial investments designated at fair value through profit and loss – 82.6 82.6
Cash and cash equivalents 6.2 – 6.2

6.3 82.6 88.9

Prepayments are excluded from trade and other receivables’ balance as this analysis is only required 
for financial instruments.

Company 
Liabilities as per statement of financial position

2015

Other financial 
liabilities

at total 
amortised

cost 
£m

Total 
£m

Loans and borrowings 39.4 39.4
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 32.0 32.0

71.4 71.4 
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Note 21.1 Valuation/market price risk
The Group’s exposure to valuation risk mainly comprises of movements in the value of its 
investments. A breakdown of the Group’s portfolio is given on page 14 and a detailed analysis of 
the largest investments is given on pages 14 to 17. All underlying investments are valued at fair 
value by the Directors in accordance with the Group’s valuation policy. It should be noted that at 
31st December 2016, 5% (2015: 82%) of the Group’s underlying investments were valued on the 
multiple of earnings basis. Hence, future changes in comparable earnings multiples of publicly 
quoted companies, which we use to value our unquoted holdings, will impact the valuations of 
the portfolio companies, as would changes in the trading results of portfolio companies.

The table below, which captures the effect of the relative gearing of the underlying investments, 
summarises the effect that any fluctuation in market multiples would have on the valuation of the 
Group’s portfolio:

Increase 
£m

Decrease 
£m

Fixed asset investments at fair value through profit and loss at 31st December 2016 46.0 46.0
10% changes in comparable multiples 4.9 (3.5)
Adjusted fair value of investments 50.9 42.5
Percentage of current fair value of investments 10.7% (7.6)%

Valuation sensitivity
The Group’s sensitivity to valuation risk will be affected by changes in the Group’s levels of borrowing 
and liquidity. Any reduction in the value of the portfolio will be amplified by our level of indebtedness: 
the ratio of net debt to net assets was 38% at 31st December 2016 (2015: 62%).

Management of the risk
The exposure to market risk is monitored based on the overall level of market risk on the whole of the 
investment portfolio on an ongoing basis. The Board monitors valuation risk by reviewing and 
approving the valuation of the portfolio.

Concentration risk
As disclosed, the Group is no longer making new investments. This will mean that as and when 
realisations occur the portfolio becomes more concentrated. Over-exposure to a particular sector or 
geography could increase the impact of adverse changes in macroeconomic or market conditions 
on the Group. The portfolio is subject to periodic reviews by the Board in order to monitor exposure 
to any one sector or geography and to monitor the exposure to larger investments. 

As at 31st December 2016, the remaining five investments represented 98.5% of the overall investment 
portfolio (2015: 99.3%), of which the underlying exposure to Parques Reunidos accounted for 75.6% of 
the investment portfolio (2015: 52.5%), or 99.2% of net assets (2015: 81.6%).

Note 21.2 Liquidity risk
This is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with uncalled 
commitments and financial liabilities. Further information on how the Company mitigates the risk of 
failure to meet financial commitments can be found in the Strategic report (see page 6).

As at 31st December 2016 the Group had no outstanding co-investment commitments (2015: £nil).

It should be noted that in addition to the movements in comparable multiples other significant 
factors, including covenant concerns and recent relevant market transactions, are taken into account 
in arriving at the individual investment valuations.
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Financial liabilities
The remaining contractual maturities of the financial liabilities at 31st December 2016, based on the 
earliest date on which payment can be required, were as follows:

2016 2015

3 months 
or less 

£m

Not more 
than 

1 year 
£m

More 
than 

1 year 
£m

Total 
£m

3 months 
or less 

£m

Not more 
than

 1 year 
£m

More
 than

1 year 
£m

Total 
£m

Group and Company
Borrowings under the 
17Capital LLP loan facilities1 – – 35.0 35.0 – – 39.7 39.7

– – 35.0 35.0 – – 39.7 39.7

1 Includes capitalised interest and deferred costs

Note 21.3 Currency risk
Certain of the Group’s assets, liabilities, income and expenses are denominated in currencies 
other than Sterling (the Group’s functional currency and in which it reports its results), primarily 
with respect to the Euro and the US Dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises when future investment 
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in currency that is not the 
entity’s functional currency. As a result, movements in exchange rates may affect the Sterling 
value of those items.

Management of the risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currencies is monitored and reported to the Board on a regular 
basis. The risk to the Group is the foreign currency impact on the Group’s net asset value and 
income following a movement in the rates of exchange to which the Group’s assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses are exposed.

Foreign currency borrowings are used to limit the Group’s exposure to anticipated future changes 
in exchange rates which might otherwise adversely affect the value of the portfolio of investments. 
These borrowings are limited to currencies and amounts commensurate with the asset exposure 
to those currencies.

75 Candover Investments plc Report and accounts 2016

Overview Strategy Governance Financial statements Shareholder services



Foreign currency exposure
The fair values of the Group and Company’s monetary items (including financial investments 
and derivative financial instruments) that have foreign currency exposure at 31st December are 
shown below:

Group
US$ 
£m

Euro 
£m

Other 
£m

2016
Cash and cash equivalents –  20.7 –
Payables (interest payable) – – –
Borrowings under the 17Capital LLP loan facilities – (35.0) –
Foreign currency exposure on net monetary items –  (14.3) –
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 0.6  45.9 –
Total net foreign currency exposure 0.6  31.6 –

Group
US$ 
£m

Euro 
£m

Other 
£m

2015
Cash and cash equivalents –  6.1 –
Payables (interest payable) – – –
Borrowings under the 17Capital LLP loan facilities – (39.7) –
Foreign currency exposure on net monetary items – (33.6) –
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 0.6 81.8 –
Total net foreign currency exposure 0.6 48.2 –

Company
US$ 
£m

Euro 
£m

Other 
£m

2016
Cash and cash equivalents – 20.7 –
Payables (interest payable) – – –
Borrowings under the 17Capital LLP loan facilities – (35.0) –
Foreign currency exposure on net monetary items – (14.3) –
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 0.6  45.9 –
Total net foreign currency exposure 0.6  31.6 –

Company
US$ 
£m

Euro 
£m

Other 
£m

2015
Cash and cash equivalents –  6.1 –
Payables (interest payable) – – –
Borrowings under the 17Capital LLP loan facilities – (39.7) –
Foreign currency exposure on net monetary items – (33.6) –
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 0.6 81.8 –
Total net foreign currency exposure 0.6 48.2 –
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Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the equity in regard to the Group’s monetary financial 
assets and financial liabilities and the exchange rates for Sterling/US Dollar and Sterling/Euro.

It assumes the following changes in exchange rates:

Sterling/US Dollar +/-10% (2015: 10%) 
Sterling/Euro +/-10% (2015: 10%)

These percentages have been determined based on a reasonable estimate of the potential volatility. 
The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s monetary foreign currency financial instruments held 
at each statement of financial position date.

If Sterling had weakened/strengthened (amounts negative of those shown) against the currencies 
shown, this would have had the following effect:

2016 (+/-10%) 2015 (+/-10%)

US$ 
£m

Euro 
£m

US$ 
£m

Euro 
£m

Gain attributable to equity shareholders  0.1  3.2  0.1  4.8
Loss attributable to equity shareholders (0.1) (3.2) (0.1) (4.8)

Note 21.4 Interest rate risk
Interest rate movements may affect:

 – the fair value of the investments in fixed interest rate securities (including unquoted loans);
 – the level of income receivable on cash and cash equivalents; and
 – the interest payable on the Company’s variable rate borrowings.

Management of the risk
The possible effects on fair value and cash flows that could arise as a result of changes in interest 
rates are taken into account when making investment and funding decisions.

The majority of the financial investments that are interest-bearing bear fixed interest; as a result, 
the Group is not subject to significant amounts of cash flow interest rate risk due to fluctuations 
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates.

Any excess cash and cash equivalents are invested at short-term market interest rates, further 
reducing such risks. Proceeds from the sale of portfolio investments will be used to reduce net debt 
and this will also reduce the Company’s net annual interest costs. 

Interest rate exposure
The exposure for the Group and Company, at 31st December, of financial assets and financial 
liabilities to interest rate risk is shown by reference to:

 – floating interest rates (i.e. giving cash flow interest rate risk) when the interest rate is due to be 
re-set; and

 – fixed interest rates (i.e. giving fair value interest rate risk) when the financial instrument is due 
for repayment.
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Group

2016 2015 

Within
 1 year 

£m

More 
than 

1 year 
£m

Total
 £m

Within
 1 year

 £m

More
than

1 year
 £m

Total
 £m

Exposure to floating interest rates
Cash and cash equivalents 21.3 – 21.3 6.5 – 6.5

21.3 – 21.3 6.5 – 6.5
Exposure to fixed interest rates
Cash and cash equivalents – – – – – –
Investments at fair value through profit or loss – 46.7 46.7 – 82.6 82.6
Borrowings under the 17Capital LLP 
loan facilities – (35.0) (35.0) – (39.7) (39.7)

–  11.7  11.7 – 42.9 42.9
Total exposure to interest rates 21.3 11.7 33.0 6.5 42.9 49.4

2016 2015

Company

Within
1 year

 £m

More 
than 

1 year
 £m

Total
 £m

Within 
1 year

 £m

More
than

1 year
 £m

Total
 £m

Exposure to floating interest rates
Cash and cash equivalents 20.8 – 20.8 6.2 – 6.2

20.8 – 20.8 6.2 – 6.2
Exposure to fixed interest rates
Cash and cash equivalents – – – – – –
Investments at fair value through profit or loss – 46.7 46.7 – 82.6 82.6
Borrowings under the 17Capital LLP 
loan facilities – (35.0) (35.0) – (39.7) (39.7)

– 11.7 11.7 – 42.9 42.9
Total exposure to interest rates 20.8 11.7 32.5 6.2 42.9 49.1

1 Excluding deferred costs

Interest receivable and finance costs are at the following rates:

 – interest received on cash and cash equivalents is managed to achieve a margin over LIBOR or its 
foreign currency equivalent (2015: no change); 

 – interest on borrowings on the 17Capital LLP loan facilities are based on an effective interest rate of 
20.6% (31 December 2015: 20.6%). 
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Interest rate sensitivity
The Group’s loan note investments are held at fair value through profit or loss and valued in 
conjunction with the equity investment in the relevant portfolio company. The nature of these 
instruments, and Candover’s holding composition compared to other investors, is such that interest 
rate movements are not likely to give a material change in the overall fair value of the investments. 

As cash and cash equivalents are invested at short-term market rates, for fixed short-term periods 
and held to maturity, they are not significantly impacted in respect of fair value by movements in 
interest rates. As borrowings under the 17Capital LLP loan facilities are held at amortised cost, 
the movement in interest rates does not impact upon their carrying value.

Note 21.5 Credit risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk principally arises from its investment in short-dated listed fixed 
income securities, money market instruments and its cash deposits.

Management of the risk
This risk is managed as follows:

 – where an investment is made in an unquoted loan to a private equity investment, it is made as part 
of the overall equity and debt investment package and the recoverability of the debt is assessed 
as part of the overall investment process;

 – transactions involving derivatives are entered into only with investment banks, the credit rating 
of which is taken into account so as to minimise the risk to the Group of default;

 – exposure to individual financial institutions is minimised by the Group spreading its cash across 
a number of liquidity funds and banks;

 – cash equivalents consist of short-dated listed fixed income securities and money market 
instruments, with a credit rating of AA- or above; and

 – at bank is held only with major UK banks with high quality external credit ratings or 
government support.

Credit risk exposure
In summary, compared to the amounts included in the Statement of financial position, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk at 31st December was as follows:

Group

2016 2015

Statement 
of financial 

position 
£m

Maximum 
exposure 

£m

Statement of 
financial 
position 

£m

Maximum 
exposure 

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 21.3 21.3 6.5 6.5
21.3 21.3 6.5 6.5

2016 2015

Company

Statement 
of financial 

position 
£m

Maximum 
exposure 

£m

Statement of 
financial 
position 

£m

Maximum 
exposure 

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 20.8 20.8 6.2 6.2
20.8 20.8 6.2 6.2

Trade payables exist between Group companies. Credit risk in relation to these payables is 
considered to be immaterial.
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Note 21.6 Fair value hierarchy measurements and disclosures
IFRS 13 requires the Company to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels:

(i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
(ii) Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices including interest rates, 
yield curves, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks and default rates) or other market 
corroborated inputs.

(iii) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs).

The valuation policy is explained on page 18.

The table below sets out fair value hierarchy under the IFRS 7 fair value disclosures and IFRS 13 fair 
value measurement:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Group

2016

Level 1 
£m

Level 2 
£m

Level 3 
£m

Total 
£m

Continuing equity investments – 43.5 3.2 46.7
Cash equivalents – – – –
Total – 43.5 3.2 46.7

Group

2015

Level 1 
£m

Level 2 
£m

Level 3 
£m

Total 
£m

Continuing equity investments – – 82.6 82.6
Cash equivalents – – – –
Total – – 82.6 82.6

Company

2016

Level 1 
£m

Level 2 
£m

Level 3 
£m

Total 
£m

Continuing equity investments – 43.5 3.2 46.7
Cash equivalents – – – –
Total – 43.5 3.2 46.7

2015

Company
Level 1

 £m
Level 2

 £m
Level 3 

£m
Total
 £m

Continuing equity investments – – 82.6 82.6
Cash equivalents – – – –
Total – – 82.6 82.6
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Group

2016

Investments 
£m

Financial 
liabilities 

on equity 
commitments 

£m
Total 

£m

Valuation at 1st January 2016 82.6 – 82.6
Additions – – –
Disposal proceeds (30.1) – (30.1)
Realised gains (3.4) – (3.4)
Unrealised losses (2.4) – (2.4)
Valuation at 31st December 2016 46.7 – 46.7

Group

2015

Investments 
£m

Financial 
liabilities 

on equity 
commitments 

£m
Total 

£m

Valuation at 1st January 2015 135.6 – 135.6
Additions 2.3 – 2.3
Disposal proceeds (8.8) – (8.8)
Realised gains  0.6 – 4.8
Unrealised losses (47.1) – (47.1)
Valuation at 31st December 2015 82.6 – 82.6

Company

2016

Equity 
investments 

£m

Financial 
liabilities 

on equity 
commitments 

£m
Total 

£m

Valuation at 1st January 2016 82.6 – 82.6
Additions – – –
Disposal proceeds (30.1) – (30.1)
Realised gains (3.4) – (3.4)
Unrealised losses (2.4) – (2.4)
Valuation at 31st December 2016 46.7 – 46.7

The valuations for Parques and Technogym are now based on a function of the share price of the 
individual investments due to the nature of the investment held. Valuations of the remaining portfolio 
companies are based on earning multiples as derived from comparable listed companies. Level 3 
investments are sensitive to assumptions made when ascertaining fair value as described in the 
valuation policy on page 18. Using an alternative assumption could have a significant impact on the 
fair value of Level 3 investments. A reasonable assumption could be to value the portfolio companies 
using the average market multiple of comparable listed companies, rather than the specific approach 
adopted. This would result in an unadjusted valuation of £50.3 million which is 7% higher than the 
current valuation. The multiples of the comparable basket of companies range from 10.7x to 16.6x 
(2015: 8.3x to 10.6x), with adjustments made to reflect the relative size and trading diversity between 
portfolio companies and listed comparable companies of -27% to -48% (2015: +1% to -41%). These 
adjustments have an aggregate negative impact of £4.3 million giving a year end portfolio valuation 
of £46.0 million.
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2015

Company
Investments 

£m

Financial 
liabilities

on equity 
commitments 

£m
Total 

£m

Valuation at 1st January 2015 135.6 – 135.6
Additions 2.3 – 2.3
Disposal proceeds (8.8) – (8.8)
Realised gains 0.6 – 0.6
Unrealised losses (47.1) – (47.1)
Valuation at 31st December 2015 82.6 – 82.6

There have been no transfers between levels for the year ended 31st December 2016.

Note 21.7 Capital management and policies and procedures
The Group’s capital management objectives are:

 – to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern; and
 – to maximise the income and capital return to its equity shareholders.

The Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital are unchanged from the 
preceding accounting period.

The Company is subject to several externally imposed capital requirements:

 – as a public company, the Company has to have a minimum share capital of £50,000;
 – in order to be able to pay dividends out of profits available for distribution by way of dividends, 

the Company has to be able to meet one of the two capital restriction tests imposed on 
investment companies by company law; and

 – to retain its status as an investment trust, the Company is required to comply with the regulations 
of Section 1158/9 of the Corporation Taxes Act 2010.

These requirements are unchanged since last year and the Group and the Company have complied 
with them.

Notes to the Financial statements
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The Group’s capital at 31st December 2016 comprises:
2016 

£m
2015 

£m

Debt
Borrowings under the 17Capital LLP loan facilities 34.7 39.4

34.7 39.4
Equity
Equity share capital 5.5 5.5
Retained earnings and other reserves 30.1 47.7

35.6 53.2
Total capital 70.3 92.6
Debt as a % of total capital 49% 43%

The Board monitors and reviews the broad structure of the Group’s capital on an ongoing basis.

This review includes:

 – the planned level of gearing, which takes account of senior management’s views on the market;
 – the need to buy back equity shares, either for cancellation or to hold in treasury, which takes 

account of the difference between the net asset value per share and the share price (i.e. the level 
of share price discount or premium);

 – the need for new issues of equity shares, including issues from treasury; and
 – the extent to which revenue, in excess of that which is required to be distributed, should 

be retained.

Note 22 Related party transactions
The Company’s subsidiary undertaking is listed in Note 10 on page 67, which includes a description 
of the nature of its business. During the year, management charges of £0.4 million (2015: £0.3 million) 
were charged by Candover Services Limited. Amounts due to Candover Services Limited at the year 
end are listed in Note 13 on page 67.

The Directors of the Company and the Group are considered to be key management personnel. 
Remuneration to key management personnel is disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report on 
pages 32 to 38. 

Note 23 Subsequent events
Following the year end the Company’s interest in Technogym was fully realised generating proceeds 
of €9.5 million. A further partial realisation of shares in Parques was also completed generating 
proceeds of €9.7 million.

At the end of the first quarter the Company fully repaid the outstanding debt facility from 17Capital. 
The early repayment was made at a minimum return of 1.37x principal, a reduction of 0.03x from the 
original facility agreement. This saved the Company €918,000.
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Financial calendar

Event Date 

Preliminary announcement 
of results for the year ended  
31st December 2016

24th February 
2017

Candover Investments plc  
Annual General Meeting

23rd May  
2017

Interim announcement of results for 
the half year ended 30th June 2017

23rd August 
2017 

Share price
The Company’s shares are listed on the  
London Stock Exchange under share code  
‘CDI’. The share price is available on our  
website at www.candoverinvestments.com.

Information about Candover
For the latest information about Candover 
Investments plc, visit our website: 
www.candoverinvestments.com.

Capita share portal
Candover’s registrars, Capita Asset Services, 
offer a share portal service which enables 
registered shareholders to manage their 
Candover shareholdings quickly and easily 
online. Once registered for this service, it is 
possible for a shareholder to view their Candover 
shareholding, recent share trades and dividend 
payments, to obtain current valuations, to update 
their address or amend a dividend mandate 
(e.g. to enable dividends to be paid directly into 
the shareholder’s bank account) and to vote 
online at shareholder meetings. For further 
information visit www.capitashareportal.com.

Total voting rights
As at 4th April 2017 the Company’s issued 
share capital consisted of 21,778,580 ordinary 
shares with a nominal value of 25 pence each. 
A further 78,035 ordinary shares are held in 
treasury. The above figure of 21,778,580 
ordinary shares is subject to change. However, 
until otherwise announced, that figure may be 
used by shareholders in the Company as the 
denominator for the calculations by which 
they will determine if they are required to notify 
their interest in, or a change in their interest in, 
the share capital of the Company under the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules published 
by the Financial Conduct Authority. 
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Candover Investments plc
34 Lime Street 
London EC3M 7AT 
Telephone: +44 (0)20 7489 9848 
email: info@candover.com 
website: www.candoverinvestments.com

Registered in England and Wales No. 1512178

Company Secretary
Ipes (UK) Limited 
9th Floor 
1 Minster Court
Mincing Lane
London EC3R 7AA
Telephone: +44 (0)20 7798 0900 
Facsimile: +44 (0)20 7630 7177 
email: candover@ipes.com 

Solicitors
Ashurst LLP 
Broadwalk House 
5 Appold Street 
London EC2A 2HA

Stockbrokers
Winterflood Securities 
The Atrium Building
Cannon Bridge House 
25 Dowgate Hill 
London EC4R 2GA

Registered auditors
Grant Thornton UK LLP 
30 Finsbury Square 
London EC2P 2YU

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC 
1 Churchill Place 
London E14 5HP

Registrars
Capita Asset Services 
The Registry 
34 Beckenham Road 
Beckenham 
Kent BR3 4TU 
Telephone: 0871 664 0300 (from UK)* 
+44 371 664 0300 (from Overseas) 
email: shareholderenquiries@capita.co.uk

*  Calls cost 12p per minute plus network extras  
Lines are open 9.00 am – 5.30 pm Monday-Friday

Design and production:  
Gather +44(0) 20 7610 6140
www.gather.london

The paper used in this Report is  
derived from sustainable sources
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Candover Investments plc
34 Lime Street 
London EC3M 7AT

Telephone +44 (0)20 7489 9848

Email info@candover.com 
Website www.candoverinvestments.com
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